Finnish Red Cross Blood Service and Laboratory of Biochemistry and Microbiology, Department of Chemical Technology, Helsinki University of Technology, Finland

# A PHARMACEUTICAL HUMAN APOTRANSFERRIN PRODUCT FOR IRON BINDING THERAPY

Leni von Bonsdorff

Dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Science in Technology to be presented with due permission of the Department of Chemical Technology for public examination and debate in the Auditorium KE 2 (Komppa Auditorium) at Helsinki University of Technology (Espoo, Finland) on the 14th of November, 2003, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2003

# ACADEMIC DISSERTATIONS FROM THE FINNISH RED CROSS BLOOD SERVICE NUMBER 48

## SUPERVISOR

Docent Jaakko Parkkinen, MD, PhD Department for Research and Development Finnish Red Cross Blood Service

#### REVIEWERS

Professor Maija Tenkanen, DrSc (Tech) Department of Applied Chemistry and Microbiology University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Docent Tapani Tuomi, DrSc (Tech) Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Helsinki, Finland

#### **OPPONENT**

Jan Over, PhD Sanquin Plasma Products Amsterdam, The Netherlands

ISBN 952-5457-05-2 (print) ISBN 952-5457-06-0 (pdf) ISSN 1236-0341 Helsinki 2003 Yliopistopaino

# ABSTRACT

Transferrin is the major iron binding protein in human plasma. It binds iron with high affinity in a redox inactive form and delivers it to growing cells. Each molecule is capable of binding two molecules of ferric iron. Normally, transferrin is only about 30% saturated with iron. In certain clinical conditions, the iron concentration in serum is increased so that the iron binding capacity is exceeded and non-transferrin-bound iron (NTBI) is formed in serum. NTBI is potentially toxic because it generates free radical formation and can be taken up by tissues, leading to excess deposits that can potentiate tissue damage. It is also known that iron enhances the growth of bacteria and fungi, and can predispose patients to septic infections.

This thesis describes the development of an efficient process for producing pharmaceutical grade iron-free apotransferrin. The biochemical efficacy of apotransferrin for iron binding therapy was studied in early phase clinical trials in haematological stem cell transplant (SCT) patients. The scope of this work did not include studying the clinical efficacy of apotransferrin.

The manufacturing method used fraction IV of the Cohn cold ethanol human plasma fractionation process as starting material. Apotransferrin was purified in two ion exchange chromatography steps and ultrafiltration with over 90% recovery. In order to obtain a virus-safe product, the process comprised solvent detergent treatment as the main virus inactivation step and virus filtration and polyethylene glycol precipitation to remove physico-chemically resistant infectious agents. The purity of the product was at least 98%, main impurities being IgG, IgA and hemopexin. Methods for studying the iron binding capacity, the transferrin conformation and its iron forms, and the glycosylation variants were developed and used to study the quality of the finished product batches. The product had intact iron binding capacity and a native conformation. The results of several production batches indicated that the manufacturing could be carried out reproducibly. Product characterisation by electrospray and MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry indicated no other chemical modifications than N-linked glycan chains and disulphide bonds, except minor oxidation. A stable liquid formulation suitable for intravenous infusion was developed.

The biochemical binding of NTBI to apotransferrin *in vivo* was studied by several methods. The bleomycin method for NTBI determination was modified for microwell measurement and evaluated. The bleomycin assay was reproducible and NTBI was found in serum samples only when transferrin saturation was >80% and haemolysed samples were excluded. The bleomycin assay that measures redox-active iron underestimated the true concentration of NTBI. The concentration of NTBI could be calculated from the shift of transferrin iron forms found *in vivo* after intravenous

infusion of apotransferrin to patients. It could also be determined with a chelation based method, which, however, had a lower specificity than the bleomycin method. In haematological SCT patients, the concentration of NTBI could be as high as 20  $\mu$ mol/l. Apotransferrin given in single intravenous doses to six patients bound NTBI effectively, although in most cases temporarily. With repeated high dose regimens, the appearance of NTBI was prevented in 5 of 8 patients.

The influence of NTBI on the growth of the opportunistic pathogen *Staphylococcus epidermidis* was studied both with purified transferrin and in serum milieu. In both cases, growth was critically dependent on NTBI and on a high transferrin saturation. Only at high initial bacterial concentrations could growth be detected with partially saturated transferrin. Apotransferrin administered to SCT patients bound NTBI and restored the growth inhibitory effect of serum. Exogenous apotransferrin might protect the patients against infections by *S. epidermidis* and other opportunistic pathogens whose growth is dependent on NTBI.

In conclusion, the apotransferrin was pure and safe and showed *in vivo* the biochemical effects that could be expected of a functional human apotransferrin product. In SCT patients it was possible to prevent the appearance of NTBI and maintain the bacterial growth inhibitory effect in serum.

# PREFACE

This work was carried out at the Department of Research and Development, Division of Plasma Products of the Finnish Red Cross Blood Service in Helsinki. I am grateful to the Director of the Institute Docent Jukka Rautonen and the former Director Professor Juhani Leikola as well as the Division Director Visa Vanamo for providing the research facilities and the possibility to carry out this work. Former Division Director Professor Gunnar Myllylä is thanked for long lasting encouragement to complete my scientific studies.

My sincerest thanks go to my supervisor Docent Jaakko Parkkinen, who with great scientific knowledge has guided me throughout this work. I am deeply grateful for the time and effort he has given to the research, for bringing in new ideas and for over again encouraging me to check the details. I truly admire his skill for always finding a simple way of expressing complex problems in a few words.

I thank Professor Simo Laakso, head of the Laboratory of Biochemistry and Microbiology at the Helsinki University of Technology, for encouragement, help and advice. I also thank the reviewers Professor Maija Tenkanen and Docent Tapani Tuomi for careful reading of the thesis and for constructive criticism and valuable discussions.

Of my co-authors of the original publications at FRC, Hannele Tölö is especially thanked for her quick mind and action, and for many supportive discussions, not only in the field of science. My thanks go to Enni Lindeberg for pondering the problems with iron methodology and to Esa Törmä for fruitful collaboration with the virus steps. Sanna Matinaho, Ari Rouhiainen, and Maarit Lönnroth are thanked for providing valuable contributions to the bacterial work.

I express my deepest gratitude to the clinicians at the Helsinki University Central Hospital who carried out the clinical studies. Leila Sahlsted is warmly thanked for a most pleasant collaboration and for meticulously collecting patient samples and data. Doctor Freja Ebeling is thanked for her invaluable advice and strong support. The advice of Professor Tapani Ruutu is warmly acknowledged.

I am indebted to Doctor Tuula Nyman for the contributions to the protein characterisation work carried out at the University of Helsinki, Institute of Biotechnology.

At the Department of R&D at FRC, I wish to thank all my colleagues for great support. Especially the excellent technical assistance and joyful times in the laboratory with Teija Kupari, Anne Remes, Sisko Lehmonen, Sinikka Laazizi, Anne Rahola and Hanna Laitinen is warmly remembered. Helena Santala is thanked for true help and support in secretarial as well as other matters.

The "production guys" Mauri Asplund, Pekka Nikkilä, and Lauri Aho are thanked for keen interest in the project and help throughout test runs and optimisation work. Doctor Gunnel Sievers and the chemists at the Department of Chemistry are warmly acknowledged for advice and support. My thanks to Doctor Ritva Soininen for teaching me the basics of GMP, and to the personnel at the Quality Assurance Department for good collaboration. Marja-Leena Hyvönen and Maija Ekholm are thanked for excellent librarian help and Helena Hurri for help with many practicalities.

My former bosses from the Provivo days, Ralf Lundell and Doctor Andrea Holmberg, are thanked for starting up the transferrin project, and colleagues Leena Rahkamo and Arto Forsberg for fun and rewarding collaboration.

My dear friends (including Dino), thank you for being there!

I warmly thank my parents, Tina and Magnus, for always caring and supporting me in my studies, and for helping my family in many ways. My brothers Jan and Petter and their families are thanked for support and keen interest in my work.

My children Johan, Mona and Mats, thank you for putting up with an absent or absentminded mother. Anders, my dear husband, I cannot thank you enough.

I acknowledge the financial support of Anna and Signe von Bonsdorffs släktfond.

Helsinki, October 2003

Leni von Bonsdorff

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract				
PREFACE				
List	OF ORIO	GINAL PUBLICATIONS	9	
ABB	REVIAT	IONS	10	
INTR	ODUCT	ION	11	
1	Trans	ferrin and serum iron	11	
	1.1	Transferrin characteristics	11	
	1.2	Iron and role of transferrin	13	
	1.3	Serum non-transferrin-bound iron (NTBI)	15	
	1.4	Measurement of NTBI in serum	17	
2 Iron and infection			20	
	2.1	NTBI, microbial growth, and risk of infection	20	
	2.2	Iron acquisition of <i>Staphylococcus epidermidis</i>	22	
3	Metho	ods to produce apotransferrin	22	
AIMS	OF TH	E STUDY	24	
MAT	ERIALS	AND METHODS	25	
1	Metho	ods for production, identification and characterisation of apotransferrin (I)	25	
	1.1	Apotransferrin production method	25	
	1.2	Identification of transferrin	25	
	1.3	Apotransferrin characteristics and purity	25	
2	Serun	n iron parameters (II-V)	27	
	2.1	Patient serum samples	27	
	2.2	Serum iron and transferrin saturation	27	
	2.3	Determination of serum NTBI	27	
	2.4	Determination of transferrin iron forms in serum	28	
3	Grow	th of Staphylococcus epidermidis (IV, V)	29	
	3.1	Bacterial strains and preparation of inoculum	29	
	3.2	Monitoring of growth with pure transferrin	29	
	3.3	Monitoring of growth in serum samples	29	
RESU	LTS		31	
1	Pharm	naceutical apotransferrin preparation (I)	31	
	1.1	Large scale purification of apotransferrin	31	
	1.2	Identification and characterisation of the apotransferrin product	32	
2	Bindi	ng of NTBI with apotransferrin	34	
	2.1	Evaluation of assay for measuring NTBI (II)	34	
	2.2	Binding of NTBI in patient serum (III, V)	35	
3	Grow	th of Staphylococcus epidermidis (IV, V)	36	

Disc	USSION	. 38	
1	Apotransferrin product (I)	. 38	
2	Determination of serum NTBI (II, III)	. 39	
3	Binding of NTBI by apotransferrin administration (III, V)	. 41	
4	Transferrin, NTBI and the growth of Staphylococcus epidermidis (IV,V)	. 42	
CONCLUSIONS			
References			

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I **von Bonsdorff L**, Tölö H, Lindeberg E, Nyman T, Harju A, Parkkinen J. Development of a pharmaceutical apotransferrin product for iron binding therapy. Biologicals 2001;29:27-37.
- II von Bonsdorff L, Lindeberg E, Sahlstedt L, Lehto J, Parkkinen J. Bleomycindetectable iron assay for non-transferrin-bound iron in hematologic malignancies. Clin Chem 2002;48:307-314.
- III Sahlstedt L, **von Bonsdorff L**, Ebeling F, Ruutu T, Parkkinen J. Effective binding of free iron by a single intravenous dose of human apotransferrin in haematological stem cell transplant patients. Br J Haematol 2002;119:547-553.
- IV Matinaho S, von Bonsdorff L, Rouhiainen A, Lönnroth M, Parkkinen J. Dependence of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* on non-transferrin-bound iron for growth. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2001;196:177-182.
- V von Bonsdorff L, Sahlstedt L, Ebeling F, Ruutu T, Parkkinen J. Apotransferrin administration prevents growth of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* in serum of stem cell transplant patients by binding of free iron. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2003;37:45-51.

In publication III, the authors L. Sahlstedt and L. von Bonsdorff contributed equally.

# ABBREVIATIONS

AAS	Atomic absorption spectrophotometry
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
BPT	Bathophenantroline
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
BVDV	Bovine viral diarrhoea virus
CFU	Colony forming units
CRP	C-reactive protein
CV	Coefficient of variation
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
FeNTA	Ferric nitrilotriacetate
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
HAV	Hepatitis A virus
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
IEX-HPLC	Ion exchange high performance liquid chromatography
IgA	Immunoglobulin A
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
MALDI-TOF	Matrix assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight
NTA	Nitrilotriacetic acid
NTBI	Non-transferrin-bound iron
OD	Optical density
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
RP-HPLC	Reversed phase high performance liquid chromatography
SCT	Stem cell transplant
SD	Solvent detergent
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SEC-HPLC	Size exclusion high performance liquid chromatography
TBA	Thiobarbituric acid
TBE	Tris-borate-EDTA

# INTRODUCTION

# 1 Transferrin and serum iron

#### **1.1** Transferrin characteristics

Transferrins represent a class of proteins found in biological fluids of all vertebrates and invertebrates with the property of reversibly binding iron. The name transferrin was suggested by Holmberg and Laurell (1947) and is used as the name for the iron-binding  $\beta$ -globulin found in blood serum and other extracellular fluids of vertebrates (de Jong *et al.*, 1990). Other proteins of the same group are lactoferrin in milk and in neutrophil granules (Metz-Boutigue *et al.*, 1984), ovotransferrin of egg white and melanotransferrin (antigen p97) produced by melanoma cells (Brown *et al.*, 1982). Transferrin was first detected and isolated in works described by Holmberg and Laurell (1945) and Schade and Caroline (1946). The latter group used the newly developed Cohn fractionation procedure to prepare the iron-binding fraction of plasma. Since then, the protein has been thoroughly studied and characterised (de Jong *et al.*, 1990; Evans *et al.*, 1999; Harris and Aisen, 1989).

Human transferrin is a single polypeptide chain containing 679 amino acid residues (MacGillivray *et al.*, 1983). The protein has 19 disulphide bridges. Crystallographic studies have shown that the transferrin molecule is organised into two homologous lobes of about 330 amino acid residues, the N- and the C-lobe. The lobes are linked by a short flexible spacer peptide and each lobe contains two dissimilar domains divided by a cleft which is the binding site for  $\text{Fe}^{3+}$  (Bailey *et al.*, 1988; Wang *et al.*, 1992) (Figure 1). At the iron binding site, four of the six  $\text{Fe}^{3+}$  co-ordination sites are occupied by the protein ligands (2 tyrosine, 1 histidine and 1 aspartate residue) and two by the bidentate carbonate anion (Bailey *et al.*, 1988; Hirose, 2000). The synergistic binding of an anion, preferentially the carbonate molecule, is essential for the iron binding (Harris and Aisen, 1989).

Two N-linked oligosaccharides are found in the C-lobe at aspargine residues  $Asn^{413}$  and  $Asn^{611}$ . The carbohydrates constitute about 6% of the mass of transferrin that has a molecular weight of 79750. The glycan chains are mainly biantennary (85%) and triantennary (15%) complex-type glycans (Fu and van Halbeek, 1992; Spik *et al.*, 1985). The number of sialic acid residues per transferrin molecule is between 4 and 6. Glycosylation variants occur in different conditions. In patients suffering from alcoholism, carbohydrates lacking two to four of the terminal trisaccharides, comprising the negatively charged sialic acid and the neutral *N*-acetylglucosamine and galactose have been found, and disialotransferrin and to a lesser degree mono- and

asialotransferrin are present (Stibler, 1991). Such carbohydrate-deficient transferrin can be used as a marker for alcoholism (Turpeinen et al., 2001). Increase of branching has been found during pregnancy (Leger et al., 1989) and in congenital glycosylation disorder, when there also is an increase in fucosylation (Mills et al., 2001; Yamashita et al., 1993). The variation of glycosylation is a determinant of the microheterogeneity of transferrin. Another determinant is the genetic polymorphism. Genetic variants were first detected by starch electrophoresis. The most common was designated TfC, the more anodal TfB and cathodal TfD. Variants within the subgroups have been identified with isoelectric focusing (Kamboh and Ferrell, 1987). Of at least 38 variants, only 4 occur with a frequency over 1% (de Jong et al., 1990). Among Caucasians, the C variant, having several subtypes including C1, C2 and C3, is found almost exclusively (Tenkanen et al., 1989). A single amino acid substitution determines the TfC1 and TfC2 variants (Namekata et al., 1997). The highest frequencies of the D variant is found among African blacks, although hardly ever as homozygous D phenotypes (Kasvosve et al., 2000). Attempts to establish a relationship between the transferrin variant, serum transferrin concentration, and iron-binding capacity in Caucasians have been inconclusive (Sikstrom et al., 1993). A functional difference was demonstrated between CD and CC phenotypes in blacks, with a lower in vitro binding of iron to transferrin for the CD individuals and differences in serum iron parameters between the phenotypes (Kasvosve et al., 2000). In a transferrin variant where an amino acid substitution in the C-lobe leads to an open structure of the iron saturated molecule, a reduced affinity for the transferrin receptor was found (Evans et al., 1994b).

Each molecule of transferrin can bind two Fe<sup>3+</sup> ions. The four iron forms of transferrin are the iron-free apotransferrin, the monoferric transferrins with iron in the C- or the Nlobe, respectively, and the diferric holotransferrin. The affinity for iron at physiological pH 7.4 is high, with a binding constant of about  $10^{22}$  (Harris and Aisen, 1989). Upon binding of iron, the lobes undergo a conformational transition from the apo-structure with an open interdomain cleft to a closed holo-structure (Hirose, 2000). The conformational change can be studied by urea polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis first described by (Makey and Seal, 1976), whereby the different iron forms of transferrin can be resolved. The presence of urea causes the lobes that do not contain iron to unfold and decreases their mobility (Evans and Williams, 1980). It is believed that the change in conformation is important for the binding of the molecule to the transferrin receptor, and diferric transferrin has a 10-100 times higher affinity for the receptor than apotransferrin (Richardson and Ponka, 1997). The binding mechanism of transferrin to its receptor is not fully elucidated, but it is believed that the recognition site requires the presence of both transferrin lobes (Mason et al., 1997; Mason et al., 2002; Zak et al., 2002) and that the glycans are of less importance (Hoefkens et al., 1997). In circulation, where normally only a third of the transferrin iron binding sites are occupied, iron preferentially binds to the N-terminal lobe which is also called the acid labile lobe (Evans *et al.*, 1999). The metal release from transferrin is mainly accomplished by a decrease in pH, where protonation of the iron ligands causes release of the iron. The iron release can also be accelerated by other chemical compounds capable of complexing iron such as pyrophosphates (Morgan, 1979) and citrate (Gumerov *et al.*, 2003). Transferrin is capable of binding several other metals, but with a lower affinity (Harris and Aisen, 1989).



**Figure 1.** A ribbon diagram of a diferric rabbit serum transferrin molecule. The arrow indicates the position of the  $Fe^{3+}$  molecule in the inter-domain cleft in the N-lobe. The model is based on the PDB atomic coordinate file 1JNF (Hall *et al.*, 2002).

#### **1.2** Iron and role of transferrin

Iron is essential for virtually all living organisms. It is needed in proteins for oxygen transportation and for enzymes that can catalyse redox reactions and DNA synthesis. In biological systems and aqueous solutions, the transition metal iron can exist in two oxidative states as ferrous ( $Fe^{2+}$ ) or ferric iron ( $Fe^{3+}$ ), capable of respectively donating or accepting electrons. In aerobic conditions,  $Fe^{2+}$  is oxidised to  $Fe^{3+}$ , which is the most common form found in the environment. The properties of iron are associated with two types of problems. First,  $Fe^{3+}$  is highly insoluble at physiological pH. With increasing pH,  $Fe^{3+}$  readily hydrolyses to hydroxy-forms, followed by irreversible formation of hydroxy-iron polymers that precipitate. At physiological pH 7, the solubility of  $Fe^{3+}$  is only about 10<sup>-18</sup> mol/l (Spiro and Saltman, 1974). Secondly, the redox active iron can be

toxic as it is capable of forming harmful free radicals (Halliwell and Gutteridge, 1985). Ferrous iron catalyses the formation of the highly oxidising hydroxyl radical (OH·) from hydrogen peroxide, known as the Fenton reaction (1). Ferric iron can be reduced to ferrous iron by superoxide ( $O_2^-$ ). This net reaction (2) is referred to as the Haber-Weiss reaction. However, the term "Fenton-catalysed Haber-Weiss reaction" often used to describe these reactions, has been criticised. *In vivo*, the superoxide is mainly considered to be the source of hydrogen peroxide for the Fenton reaction, and other agents as well as superoxide can reduce iron. Toxicity therefore arises from the Fenton reaction alone, and the Haber-Weiss reaction probably does not take place (Koppenol, 2001).

$$\mathrm{Fe}^{2+} + \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}_2 \to \mathrm{Fe}^{3+} + \mathrm{OH}^{-} + \mathrm{OH}^{-} \tag{1}$$

$$O_2^- + H^+ + H_2O_2 \rightarrow O_2 + OH + H_2O \qquad (2)$$

The hydroxyl radical is, although short-lived, highly reactive and able to cause secondary radicals and initiate the lipid peroxidation chain reaction. It also causes DNA strand breaks, inactivates enzymes and can depolymerise polysaccharides (McCord, 1998).

In the blood stream, iron is transported to the cells bound to transferrin. This type of iron transportation brings several benefits. First, the transferrin is only about 30% saturated with iron to ensure capacity to sequester available iron. Second, iron is kept in a redox-inactive form. It has been shown that transferrin-bound iron is not capable of promoting hydroxyl radical formation (Baldwin *et al.*, 1984). Third, iron is not hydrolysed as it would be if were in the form of a free salt and can be targeted directly to cells requiring iron. Transferrin-bound iron is taken up by the cells by receptor-mediated endocytosis (Richardson and Ponka, 1997) whereafter apotransferrin is recirculated to the blood stream.

Iron is used for the synthesis of proteins requiring iron for biological activity, or stored in intracellular ferritin. Several other iron-binding proteins are involved in the human iron metabolism. Although transferrin is of utmost importance in the transportation of iron, the  $\sim$ 3-4 mg of transferrin-bound iron is only  $\sim$ 0.1% of the total body iron of  $\sim$ 4000 mg. However, the transferrin iron turnover is significant and about 30 mg of iron is transported daily to the cells. Of this, about 80% is transported to the bone marrow for haemoglobin synthesis in developing erythroid cells. Haemoglobin iron comprises 60-70% of body iron, followed by the intracellular storage protein ferritin that holds 10-20% of iron. The rest of the iron is found in myoglobin, cytochromes and ironcontaining enzymes. Body iron stores are highly conserved, only 1-2 mg is lost daily and the iron balance is maintained by dietary iron absorption (Conrad and Umbreit, 2000; Fairbanks and Beutler, 1995).

#### **1.3** Serum non-transferrin-bound iron (NTBI)

In certain clinical conditions, the iron concentration in serum is increased. If the iron binding capacity of transferrin is exceeded, non-transferrin-bound iron (NTBI) can form in serum. The reasons for the increase of iron are diverse (Table 1). Although the causes of NTBI vary, it is generally considered that the presence of NTBI is a pathological manifestation and is never found in healthy individuals (Breuer *et al.*, 2000a). NTBI was first detected in chronic iron overload disorders such as haemochromatosis. It can also be detected in acute events such as for haematological patients undergoing myeloablative conditioning therapy, and especially those who receive stem cell transplants (SCT) (Bradley *et al.*, 1997; Sahlstedt *et al.*, 2001). The myeloablative conditioning therapy results in a halt of erythropoiesis, the only effective way of transferrin iron utilisation. If iron release to circulation continues from macrophages taking up senescent erythrocytes, this results in a remarkable increase in the total serum iron level.

The form and nature in which NTBI exists in serum is not fully elucidated (Esposito et al., 2002; Hider, 2002). Primarily, the formation of NTBI was considered a spillover phenomenon when the transferrin saturation was exceeded. According to (Grootveld et al., 1989), a significant portion of NTBI in haemochromatosis is in the form of citrate and, possibly, acetate complexes. The tendency of iron to form large iron-polymers at physiological conditions could lead to different types of iron-citrate complexes, varying in size from monomeric to large oligomer complexes with even 17-19 iron molecules (Hider, 2002). Albumin could also act as an iron binding ligand due to the presence of large number of negatively charged carboxylate sites (He and Carter, 1992). In a study using pure albumin, it was found that albumin had capacity to bind added iron which resulted in inhibition of lipid peroxidation (Loban et al., 1997). Studies with hypotransferrinaemic mice have indicated a mixture of iron species with differing reactivity to NTBI assays (Simpson et al., 1992). The concentrations varied in the range of 1-20 µmol/l depending on the assay used to measure NTBI. No detectable mononuclear iron was measured by electron paramagnetic resonance spectrometry, indicating lack of citrate-bound iron in monomeric form. Thus, NTBI is probably a mixture of different forms of iron bound to extracellular components, and the proportions of the iron forms may vary between patient groups and clinical conditions.

NTBI is potentially toxic because it generates free radical formation and can be taken up

Chinear condition	Suggested incentanism for formation of f(1)	Killine
Haemochromatosis	Increased iron absorption from the diet leads to iron accumulation and overload	(Grootveld et al., 1989)
Secondary iron overload disorders (including thalassemia)	Multiple: Ineffective erythropoiesis, red cell transfusions, increased intake or absorption of iron	(Bottomley, 1998; Hershko <i>et al.</i> , 1978)
Chemotherapy of haematologic malignancies	Drug-induced halt of erythropoiesis and strongly decreased uptake of transferrin iron	(Bradley <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Carmine <i>et al.</i> , 1995; Harrison <i>et al.</i> , 1994; Sahlstedt <i>et al.</i> , 2001)
Premature and full-term neonates	Ferro-oxidase deficiency, low transferrin concentration, accelerated erythrocyte turnover	(Evans <i>et al.</i> , 1992); (Lindeman <i>et al.</i> , 1992); (Lindeman <i>et al.</i> , 2000)
Cardiopulmonary bypass	Haemolysis	(Pepper <i>et al.</i> , 1995)
Haemodialysis patients	Intravenous iron infusion	(Breuer <i>et al.</i> , 2000b; Parkkinen <i>et al.</i> , 2000)
Fulminant liver failure	Possible release of iron from damaged liver cells	(Evans et al., 1994a)
Atransferrinemia	Low levels of transferrin	(Simpson <i>et al.</i> , 1992)* (Beutler <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Craven <i>et al.</i> , 1987; Hamill <i>et al.</i> , 1991)

Suggested mechanism for formation of NTRL Deforma

 Table 1. Examples of clinical conditions when NTBI has been detected in serum.

Clinical condition

\*NTBI detected in hypotransferrinaemic mice

by tissues, leading to excess deposits that can potentiate tissue damage. NTBI is taken up by cells by a transferrin independent transport system which is rapid, but not regulated in the same manner as the transferrin receptor system and may involve a lipocalin transport mechanism (Kaplan, 2002). It is mainly taken up by parenchymal cells (Craven *et al.*, 1987), particularly in the liver (Brissot *et al.*, 1985) and there are several lines of evidence suggesting that NTBI is toxic to liver cells (Anderson, 1999). Ferric iron causes cytotoxicity already after a few hours in liver cell cultures (Morel *et al.*, 1990; Sakurai and Cederbaum, 1998) and it also rapidly impairs the phagocytic activity of polymorphonuclear leukocytes (van Asbeck *et al.*, 1984). Most of the toxic effects of the redox-active NTBI are believed to take place intracellularly, when iron accumulates and the cellular defence mechanism is overwhelmed. On the other hand, sera of leukaemia patients has been shown to induce lipid peroxidation. NTBI could thus damage cells even without uptake into the cells (Carmine *et al.*, 1995). Because it appears that NTBI may damage various cell types, it is possible that NTBI plays a part in the pathogenesis of mucosal and liver injury associated with high-dose chemotherapy (Beare and Steward, 1996; Carmine *et al.*, 1995).

## 1.4 Measurement of NTBI in serum

A number of methods have been developed to measure NTBI in serum. A prerequisite for the determination is to avoid interference of iron bound in redox-inactive form to transferrin or ferritin, or to therapeutic chelating agents such as desferrioxamine. Hershko *et al.* (1978) were the first to describe a method to measure NTBI, where the iron was mobilised with a chelating agent (EDTA) and after ultrafiltration, the chelated iron complex in the ultrafiltrate was measured. Several methods based on a similar chelation principle before quantitation have been described (Table 2). Nitrilotriacetate (NTA) is mostly used for iron chelation (Figure 2).

In the bleomycin-detectable iron assay iron is not chelated before determination, but is bound in its ferrous form to the glycopeptide antibiotic bleomycin (Figure 2). Ascorbic acid is added as a reduction agent. The formed iron-bleomycin undergoes complex autooxidation which results in the release of the reactive hydroxyl radical (Sugiura et al., 1982). The hydroxyl radicals damage added DNA and results in the release of malondialdehyde. The amount of bleomycin-iron is proportional to the degree of DNA degradation (Evans and Halliwell, 1994). Malondialdehyde, formed from deoxyribose residues of DNA, can be measured by the thiobarbituric acid test (Gutteridge et al., 1981), which is the most widely used quantitation method. An alternative quantitation method has been described by Burkitt et al. (2001) where an ethidium-binding assay was used to measure DNA degradation. The bleomycin assay has been compared with another biochemical assay based on the activation of the iron free aconitase enzyme in presence of NTBI (Mumby et al., 1998). Both biochemical methods have given similar results. The bleomycin-detectable iron assay has been used to study the occurrence of NTBI in various clinical conditions and biological fluids (Halliwell and Gutteridge, 1990).

In patients with haematologic malignancies, NTBI has been studied both with the bleomycin assay and with the chelation method. The reported NTBI concentrations vary depending on the method for determination, and it is difficult to conclude the true concentration of NTBI based on these results. The highest reported bleomycin-detectable iron concentrations of 21.5 and 28  $\mu$ mol/l were found by Halliwell *et al.* (1988) and Harrison *et al.* (1994), respectively. In these studies, an early version of the bleomycin method was used (Gutteridge *et al.*, 1981). In the early version, the TBA-chromogen was measured directly in the reagent mixture and not extracted into butanol. It is possible that interfering compounds remained in the mixture. Carmine *et al.* (1995)

measured much lower concentrations in the range of  $0.1 - 1 \mu mol$  with the bleomycin assay. Bradley *et al.* (1997) used the chelation method with NTA and HPLC quantitation of the chelated iron-complex that gave NTBI values up to 5  $\mu$ mol/l. Similar values (2-7  $\mu$ mol/l) were obtained by Durken *et al.* (1997) when NTA-complexed iron was quantified by atomic absorption spectrophotometry.

Table 2. Assays for measurement of serum NTB					
Assay type	Quantitation of iron	Reference			
1. Chelation of NTBI					
Chelation of NTBI with EDTA, ultrafiltration of complex	Colorimetric	(Hershko et al., 1978)			
Chelation of NTBI with NTA, ultrafiltration of complex	HPLC	(Porter et al., 1996; Singh et al., 1990)			
	Colorimetric using bathophenanthroline chromogen	(Gosriwatana <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Zhang <i>et al.</i> , 1995)			
	Atomic absorption spectrophotometry	(Durken <i>et al.</i> , 1997; Gosriwatana <i>et al.</i> , 1999; Jakeman <i>et al.</i> , 2001)			
Chelation of NTBI with oxalate, transfer of oxalate to immobilised desferrioxamine	Fluorescence using metallosensor calcein	(Breuer <i>et al.</i> , 2000b)			
Chelation of NTBI with desferrioxamine	Fluorescence quenching of fluorescein-desferrioxamine probe	(Breuer <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Breuer and Cabantchik, 2001)			
2. Biochemical reactions caused by NTBI					
Bleomycin assay. Ferrous iron complexed with bleomycin causes DNA degradation, degradation products are measured.	Thiobarbituric acid reaction, spectrophotometry	(Evans and Halliwell, 1994; Gutteridge <i>et al.</i> , 1981; Gutteridge and Hou, 1986)			
-	Ethidium-binding assay	(Burkitt et al., 2001)			
Activation of iron-sulphur cluster of aconitase	Enzymatic	(Mumby et al., 1998)			

Table 2. Assays for measurement of serum NTBI



Figure 2. A schematic representation comparing a serum transferrin iron and two NTBI assay methods. The double circles represent the transferrin molecule with two lobes, each capable of binding one iron molecule.

*A*, A chromogenic method measuring transferrin-bound iron. The iron is released from transferrin by acidification and reduced. Ferrous iron reacts with the chromogenic agent which can be either Ferene-S or Ferrozine and the coloured complex is measured by spectrophotometry.

*B*, The bleomycin assay measuring NTBI. The bleomycin reacts with NTBI in the sample after reduction using ascorbate. The bleomycin-iron complex undergoes complex autooxidation which results in the release of the reactive hydroxyl radical (OH $\cdot$ ). The hydroxyl radicals damages the added DNA and results in the release of malondialdehyde. This reacts with thiobarbituric acid (TBA) and forms a pink chromogen, which after extraction into butanol is measured by spectrophotometry.

*C*, The chelation assay measuring NTBI. The chelator nitrilotriacetate (NTA) is added to the sample to chelate NTBI. The chelated iron is separated from transferrin and other serum proteins by ultrafiltration. The iron is complexed after reduction using bathophenantroline, and measured by spectrophotometry.

## 2 Iron and infection

## 2.1 NTBI, microbial growth, and risk of infection

Like all living organisms, microbes are dependent on iron for growth, with the exception of some lactic acid bacteria (Archibald, 1983). The low availability of iron *in vivo* restricts the growth of invading bacteria. This mechanism, often described as the iron withholding system (Weinberg, 1984), is important in the defence against infections. It was first demonstrated by Schade and Caroline (1944), who showed that raw hen egg white inhibited the growth of several bacterial strains and that this inhibition could be overcome by addition of iron. Later this effect was ascribed to the ovotransferrin in egg white, and a similar mechanism was found in serum (Schade and Caroline, 1946).

To overcome the iron-limiting conditions, pathogenic bacteria have evolved specific high affinity iron-uptake mechanisms to acquire iron from the host. Pathogenic neisseriae and Haemophilus influenza (Gray-Owen and Schryvers, 1996; Schryvers and Stojiljkovic, 1999) possess surface receptors that directly bind transferrin. Receptors that specifically bind lactoferrin, haemoglobin, or haem have also been found (Wandersman and Stojiljkovic, 2000). Another mechanism whereby bacteria and fungi can acquire iron from the host is through synthesis and excretion of low-molecularweight compounds that chelate iron with high affinity; these are known as siderophores. Siderophores are produced by many, both pathogenic and non-pathogenic microorganisms, in response to a deficiency of iron and may even sequester iron attached to molecules such as transferrin, lactoferrin, and ferritin. The sequestered iron is taken up via siderophore receptors on the cells. Well characterised siderophore systems are found in enteric gram-negative bacteria Escherichia, Klebsiella, and Salmonella (Griffiths and Williams, 1999). Siderophores are also produced by gram-positive bacteria; e.g. Staphylococcus aureus (Trivier and Courcol, 1996) and pathogenic fungi (Howard, 1999). The ability to produce siderophores in vitro is not, however, necessarily associated with an increased virulence of the bacteria (Griffiths and Williams, 1999; Ratledge and Dover, 2000). The siderophore may not be able to effectively dissociate iron from the iron-binding proteins, or the iron-siderophore complex may not necessarily be transported back to the organism. However, for some bacterium as for the opportunistic pathogen Pseudomona aeruginosa, it has been shown in vivo through an animal model that the siderophore pyoverdin was essential for the virulence (Meyer et al., 1996).

The virulence of many organisms has been considerably enhanced in experimental infections by injecting iron compounds into an animal host (Griffiths, 1999). Clinical conditions with iron overload have been associated with an increased risk of infection.

*Vibrio vulnificus* is an example of an opportunistic bacterium that causes infections in patients with haemochromatosis (Bullen *et al.*, 1991). A risk for *Yersinia enterocolita* septicaemia is clearly associated with iron overload disorders, especially when desferrioxamine is used for iron chelation (Bottone, 1997; Mofenson *et al.*, 1987). Lambert and Hunter (1990) suggested that high transferrin saturation might contribute to lethality of pneumococcal pneumonia.

Haematological patients receiving high-dose chemotherapy and stem cell transplantation have an increased risk for infections which can be life-threatening. In addition to neutropenia as the major host defence defect, the use of central venous catheters, severe mucositis and increased rates of antibiotic resistant pathogens are recognised risk factors (Ehni et al., 1991; Elishoov et al., 1998; Gonzalez-Barca et al., 1996). Hospital-derived gram-positive infections have become more common during the last two decades (Zinner, 1999), predominated by coagulase negative staphylococci (Wade et al., 1982; Winston et al., 1983). Also fungal infections (candidiasis and aspergillosis) are common (Jantunen et al., 1997; Morrison et al., 1993). It has been speculated that the increased rate of infections in this patient group also could be related to the high serum iron concentrations with highly saturated transferrin. Caroline et al. (1969) proposed that high transferrin saturation predisposed patients with acute leukemia to infections by the yeast Candida albicans. An association between the high transferrin saturation and bacterial growth was described by Hunter et al. (1984), who showed that serum from leukemic patients had a reduced ability to inhibit the growth of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. A similar in vitro effect was found for Escherichia coli and Staphylococcus aureus (Gordeuk et al., 1986). High transferrin saturation level was proposed as a possible risk factor for systemic fungal infections in patients with haematological malignancies (Iglesias-Osma et al., 1995; Karp and Merz, 1986).

The presence of NTBI may therefore be a contributing virulence factor to opportunistic bacteria and fungi, and may predispose these immunocompromised patients to infections and septicaemia (Ward and Bullen, 1999). Binding of NTBI into a redox-inactive form could possibly decrease the high infection risk in the patients. Several studies have shown that transferrin displays a growth inhibitory effect *in vitro* on opportunistic organisms, such as *Vibrio vulnificus* (Chart and Griffiths, 1985), *Rhizopus* (Boelaert *et al.*, 1993), *Candida albicans* (Caroline *et al.*, 1969; Shiraishi and Arai, 1979) and *Histoplasma capsulatum* (Sutcliffe *et al.*, 1980). Recently, an anticryptococcal protein in serum was identified as apotransferrin (Sridhar *et al.*, 2000). Iron chelating agents, such as the most widely used intravenous desferrioxamine and the recently licensed oral deferiprone, have not been used in this patient group (Porter, 2001; Weinberg, 1999). Desferrioxamine is a siderophore produced by *Streptomyces pilosus*, and it is used for iron chelation therapy of patients with iron overload or acute iron poisoning. The use of desferrioxamine can increase the risk of infections of bacteria

or fungi that are capable of utilising this siderophore for growth, e.g. bacteremia by *Yersinia enterocolita* (Bottone, 1997) or fungal mucormycosis caused by *Rhizopus* (Boelaert *et al.*, 1993). Desferrioxamine is also known to have dose related toxicity (Porter and Huehns, 1989).

#### 2.2 Iron acquisition of *Staphylococcus epidermidis*

The coagulase negative staphylococcus *S. epidermidis* is a gram-positive bacterium in normal skin flora. It is an opportunistic pathogen, and is increasingly found in hospitalderived blood-stream infections. The wide-spread use of intravascular catheters in seriously ill and immunocompromised patients, and selection of antibiotic-resistant strains are factors which have contributed to the increased infection rates (Kloos and Bannerman, 1994).

The iron acquisition by staphylococci from transferrin has been studied *in vitro* starting with the work of Schade (1963), who found that coagulase positive S. aureus was able to proliferate in normal serum, whereas coagulase negative staphylococci (S. albus) could not grow in serum without iron supplementation. This suggested that the S. aureus strains could aquire iron from partially saturated transferrin whereas the other strains could not. Iron uptake studies using human transferrin labelled with iron isotope showed that S. aureus acquired iron from transferrin whereas S. epidermidis did not (Lindsay et al., 1995). The staphylococci have been described to produce at least three types of siderophores (Trivier and Courcol, 1996) of which staphyloferrin A was shown to sequester iron from diferric transferrin when grown in vitro (Modun et al., 1998). In addition to a siderophore mediated uptake mechanism, a bacterial cell-surface protein, identified as the glycolytic enzyme glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), was described to act as a transferrin receptor for S. aureus and S. epidermidis (Modun et al., 1998; Modun et al., 2000). S. epidermidis grew in the presence of diferric transferrin and converted transferrin into the iron free form at the high bacterial concentrations ( $10^8$  CFU/ml) used in the study (Modun *et al.*, 1998).

# 3 Methods to produce apotransferrin

Transferrin has been isolated and purified making use of a wide variety of starting materials and purification methods in laboratory scale preparation. Methods that are suitable for large scale manufacturing of transferrin have mainly been developed with the aim to produce transferrin for use in research and in bulk quantities for cell culture media. Many methods are based on the use of fraction IV from the Cohn cold ethanol fractionation process for human plasma (Cohn *et al.*, 1946) as starting material, and

employ ion exchange chromatography for protein purification. Inman *et al.* (1961) used the Cohn fraction IV and purified transferrin by use of precipitation and batch ion exchange adsorption techniques to prepare  $\geq$ 90% pure, iron-saturated transferrin with a yield of about 40%. The method of Kistler *et al.* (1960) comprised a combination of ethanol and rivanol precipitation to obtain about 85% pure transferrin, followed by crystallisation to increase purity to 99%. Later methods include specific steps to inactivate or remove blood-born viruses. β-propiolactone/UV-irradiation was employed to inactivate viruses after purification by precipitation in a method by Bethke *et al.* (1991). Haupt (1993) used pasteurisation in combination with a complexing agent, either citrate or EDTA, to prepare virus safe apotransferrin. Solvent detergent treatment in combination with virus removal filtration was used in a method for preparation of iron-saturated transferrin (Rolf *et al.*, 1997). Rivat *et al.* (1992) described a single-step method to produce transferrin with 97% purity and 75% yield from a by-product of a chromatographic plasma fractionation method that included virus inactivation using the solvent detergent treatment method (Horowitz *et al.*, 1985).

Recombinant transferrin molecules have been produced in small laboratory scale. These transferrin products have mainly been used in structural and functional protein analysis. Full length human transferrin has been produced in BHK cells (Mason *et al.*, 1993) and in a baculovirus system (Ali *et al.*, 1996). Recombinant N- and C-terminal half molecules have been expressed in both eukaryotic expression systems (Funk *et al.*, 1990; Mason *et al.*, 1996; Mason *et al.*, 1997; Mason *et al.*, 2001; Zak and Aisen, 2002) and prokaryotic systems (Hoefkens *et al.*, 1996).

The transferrin products obtained by the described methods vary with respect to iron content, protein purity and degree of polymerisation and aggregation, and the yield of product is often low. For use as a therapeutic agent in iron binding therapy, an apotransferrin product needs to have a native conformation, it has to be in the iron-free form, and, it must be safe for intravenous administration. At the same time, the production method has to be cost effective to enable production of large, up to kilogram, product quantities.

# AIMS OF THE STUDY

The general objectives were to develop an apotransferrin preparation and study its biochemical efficacy in iron binding therapy. The specific objectives were:

- to develop an efficient process for manufacturing of virus-safe pharmaceutical apotransferrin
- to characterise the apotransferrin product
- to evaluate methods for NTBI determination in serum
- to study the binding of NTBI in serum by apotransferrin administration
- to study the dependence of the growth of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* on NTBI, and the effect of apotransferrin on the growth of *S. epidermidis* in patient serum

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

The methods are described in detail in the original publications (I-V) and briefly below.

1 Methods for production, identification and characterisation of apotransferrin (I)

## 1.1 Apotransferrin production method

The production of apotransferrin described in publication I was carried out as follows: Apotransferrin was purified from fraction IV of the Cohn cold ethanol fractionation method for human plasma, based on the Krijnen modification of Cohn method 6 (Kistler and Friedli, 1980; Krijnen, 1970). The fraction IV paste was dissolved in water, 5% PEG was added, and the protein precipitate was removed by depth filtration to obtain a clarified crude transferrin solution. Cation exchange chromatography using SP Sepharose was used to capture the proteins, and the transferrin fraction was eluted using a pH elution. The partially purified transferrin solution was subjected to solvent detergent (SD) treatment to inactivate enveloped viruses. The main purification step was the second chromatographic step using Q Sepharose, that also removed the SD-reagents. The product was diafiltered, and finally virus-filtered using a 15 nm filter. It was formulated to a 50 g/l protein concentration in a 150 mmol/l sodium chloride solution at pH 6. The product was sterile filtered and aseptically filled into bottles and stored as a liquid solution at 2-8 °C or optionally lyophilised. The process flow scheme is shown in Fig. 3.

# **1.2 Identification of transferrin**

N-terminal sequencing was used for identification of apotransferrin fragments (Matsudaira, 1987). Peptides for mass mapping were prepared by proteolytic digestions with endoproteinase LysC on native and deglycosylated apotransferrin after reduction and alkylation, and desalting by RP-HPLC. The molecular mass of the peptides was determined by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry (Vorm *et al.*, 1994).

## **1.3** Apotransferrin characteristics and purity

The methods used to determine the product characteristics and purity are described in detail in publication I. Methods especially set up to study transferrin are described here.

#### Determination of transferrin iron forms

Urea-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (urea-PAGE) for determination of the iron forms of transferrin was carried out according to an adaptation by Williams *et al.* (1978) of the original method of Makey and Seal (1976). Pure transferrin samples of 15-20  $\mu$ g were separated in 6% gels (10x10cm) with 6 mol/l urea for 2 h at 170 V constant voltage. Gels were prepared and run with TBE buffer (0.1 mol/l TRIS, 0.01 mol/l boric acid, 0.0016 mol/l EDTA, pH 8.4). The gels were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue.

#### Determination of the iron binding capacity

The iron binding capacity of transferrin was determined by titration with ferric nitrilotriacetic acid (Welch and Skinner, 1989). 100  $\mu$ l aliquots of ferric nitrilotriacetate solution (1-1000  $\mu$ mol/l) were added to 900  $\mu$ l samples of apotransferrin (3.3 g/l) in 0.3 mol/l Tris-HCl, pH 8, to give final concentrations of ferric nitrilotriacetate ranging from 0 to 100  $\mu$ mol/l. After incubation for 1 h at 20-25°C, samples of 350  $\mu$ l were transferred to a microtiter plate and the absorbance was measured at 450 nm using a microplate spectrophotometric reader (Titertek Multiscan RC, Labsystems). The amount of iron required for full saturation was determined from the inflection point of the absorbance plot, and the iron binding capacity (%) was calculated by dividing this amount with the theoretical amount of iron required to fully saturate the added transferrin. The molar concentration of transferrin was calculated using a molecular mass of 79570 for transferrin (Morgan, 1992).

#### Identification of transferrin glycosylation variants

A high resolution ion exchange chromatography method was used to separate glycosylation variants of transferrin. Samples were injected on to a Mono Q HR 5/5 column (Amersham Biosciences). The equilibration buffer was 0.02 mol/l bis-Tris, pH 6. The transferrin was eluted with a salt gradient in the equilibration buffer from 0 to 0.1 mol/l NaCl in 10 min and 0.1 to 1 mol/l NaCl in 2 min at a flow rate of 1 ml/min.

The protein glycans were removed by enzymatic hydrolysis with N-glycosidase F followed by purification and desalting of the glycans by chromatography and gel filtration. The glycans were permethylated and their masses were determined by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry (Ciucanu and Kerek, 1984). Electrospray mass spectrometry was used to study the mass of apotransferrin or of its glycoforms after separation by IEX-HPLC.

# 2 Serum iron parameters (II-V)

#### 2.1 Patient serum samples

Patient serum samples were taken in clinical trials that were approved by the ethical committee of the Helsinki University Central Hospital and informed written consent of the patients was obtained.

#### 2.2 Serum iron and transferrin saturation

Serum transferrin was determined by an immunoturbidimetric method. Serum iron was measured with colorimetric assays without deproteinisation using either ferene-S (Eskelinen *et al.*, 1983) or ferrozine (Eisenwiener *et al.*, 1979) as the chromogenic agents. The transferrin saturation was calculated by formula (3):

$$\frac{\text{Serum iron } (\mu \text{mol/l})}{\text{Serum transferrin } (g/l)} \times 3.98 = \text{Transferrin saturation } (\%)$$
(3)

Formula (3) is based on the maximal binding of 2 mol Fe<sup>3+</sup> per 1 mol transferrin and a molecular weight of 79570 for transferrin (Morgan, 1992).

#### 2.3 Determination of serum NTBI

The bleomycin-detectable iron assay by Evans and Halliwell (1994) was the primary assay for NTBI determination in publications II, III, and V, and it was adopted for a halved sample size. Additions were done in the following order: 250 µl 1 mg/ml DNA (Type I DNA from calf thymus, Sigma), 25 µl 1.5 IU/ml bleomycin sulphate (Sigma), 50 µl 50 mmol/l MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 25 µl of sample, standard or blank and finally 50 µl 8 mmol/l ascorbic acid (Merck, Germany). A predetermined amount of about 7 µl 25 mmol/l HCl was added before the sample to adjust the pH of reagent mixture to 7.4. All reagents except the bleomycin were treated with Chelex (Bio-Rad) to remove excess iron. After incubation for 1 h at 37° C, 50 µl 0.1 mol/l EDTA, 250 µl 1% (w/v) thiobarbituric acid (Sigma), and 250  $\mu$ l 25% (v/v) HCl were added and the mixture was incubated at 80°C for 20 min for chromogen formation. The pink chromogen complex was extracted with 1.5 ml butanol and the phases were separated by centrifugation.  $350 \ \mu l$  of the clear top phase was transferred to microwell plates and the absorbance was measured at 535 nm using a microplate reader. The samples were measured in parallel with a corresponding blank without the addition of bleomycin. The absorbance value of the blank was subtracted from each sample absorbance value. The reagent blank value was subtracted from the absorbance values of the standards, and a standard curve with 0.1 to 3 µmol/l of iron (Iron atomic absorption standard solution in 1% HCl, Sigma Aldrich) was calculated for each series. Data was transformed to logarithmic values before calculation of the standard curve by linear regression in order to give weight to the standards with a low iron concentration (0.1-1  $\mu$ mol/l) before fitting the curve.

The chelation method with NTA (Gosriwatana *et al.*, 1999) was used in publications II and IV. 100  $\mu$ l 800 mmol/l NTA with pH 7 was added to 900  $\mu$ l serum and the NTA-iron complex was recovered by ultrafiltration after 30 min at room temperature. The iron in the ultrafiltrate was quantified with a colorimetric assay with bathophenantroline chromogen or by atomic absorption spectrophotometry.

## 2.4 Determination of transferrin iron forms in serum

To study the transferrin iron forms in serum samples, the serum samples were either precipitated with rivanol before urea-PAGE, or the transferrin bands were visualised by immunoblotting after electrophoresis of serum. In both cases, the electrophoresis was carried out as described for the pure transferrin samples.

To obtain a transferrin fraction, 400  $\mu$ l of 0.375% (w/v) rivanol (6,9-diamino-2ethoxyacridine lactate, Sigma) with 10% (w/v) glycerol in TBE buffer was added to 50  $\mu$ l of serum and the precipitate was removed by centrifugation (Williams and Moreton, 1980). Samples corresponding to 2  $\mu$ l of serum were applied to the gel. Proteins were visualised with Coomassie Brilliant Blue staining.

For immunoblotting, serum samples with about 0.15  $\mu$ g of transferrin were separated in 10x10 cm gels. Proteins were electroblotted from the gel onto polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (Immobilon-P, Millipore) in a transfer buffer containing 25 mmol/l Tris, 192 mmol/l glycine and 20% (v/v) methanol. The membrane was treated with 0.5% (v/v) Tween in PBS over night. Transferrin bands were visualised by immunostaining using rabbit anti-human transferrin IgG (Dako A/S) as the primary antibody in 1% (w/v) BSA, 0.05% (v/v) Tween 20 in PBS for 2 h at room temperature. The blots were washed three times with PBS containing 0.05% Tween 20 and incubated with anti-rabbit IgG conjugated with alkaline phosphatase (Jackson Immuno Research Laboratories Inc) in 1% BSA, 0.05% Tween 20 in PBS for 1 h at room temperature. Following three additional washes with 0.05% Tween 20 in PBS, the blots were stained with 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate-nitroblue tetrazolium colour development solution (Immuno-Blot Alkaline Phosphatase Assay kit, Bio-Rad). The reaction was stopped with 100 mmol/l Na-acetate, pH 5, containing 5 mmol/l Na-EDTA for 5 min. The blots were washed with distilled water and dried.

The proportions of the different transferrin iron forms were determined by scanning with a laser densitometer.

# 3 Growth of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* (IV, V)

## **3.1** Bacterial strains and preparation of inoculum

Two multi-resistant clinical isolates of *S. epidermidis* (16779 and 19435) from neutropenic patients with a haematological malignancy and septicaemia and the ATCC 12228 strain (Manassas, VA, USA) were used. Stock cultures were kept frozen at -70°C and subcultures were made on trypcase-soy agar dishes (bioMérieux, France). The growth medium was RPMI-1640 (R-7509, Sigma) with 50 mmol/l HEPES buffer, pH 7.4 and 2 mmol/l L-glutamine. The medium was depleted of iron using Chelex-100 resin (Bio-Rad) and supplemented with 10  $\mu$ mol/l CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 100  $\mu$ mol/l MgCl<sub>2</sub>. Ferric nitrilotriacetate (FeNTA) with 3 mmol/l iron was used for iron addition in precultivation of the strains and for saturating normal serum with iron.

To prepare the inoculum, the strains were cultivated in the iron-depleted RPMI with or without iron supplementation. The iron-depleted RPMI was used to induce the siderophore production. The siderophore index of the bacterial cultures was determined with the Chrome Azurol S liquid assay (Payne, 1994). 10-fold dilutions of the bacteria in saline were used as inocula.

# 3.2 Monitoring of growth with pure transferrin

Inocula with and without siderophore induction were used. 50  $\mu$ l was used to inoculate 250  $\mu$ l of RPMI containing 2.5 g/l of apotransferrin and different amounts of FeNTA. The growth was monitored by turbidity measurements every 30 min in microwell plates for 96 h at 37°C with periodic shaking in a Bioscreen C Microbiology Reader (Labsystems, Finland). Viable counts were determined by plating on trypcase-soy agar plates (bioMérieux, France).

## **3.3** Monitoring of growth in serum samples

The inoculum was cultivated in two passages, the first one in iron replete RPMI and the second one in iron-depleted RPMI. Serum was buffered with 50 mmol/l HEPES, pH 7.4. 50  $\mu$ l inoculum was added to 200  $\mu$ l buffered serum. The growth was monitored by optical density measurements every 30 min for 24 h at 37°C with periodic shaking in the Bioscreen C Microbiology Reader. The apparatus was placed in an air-tight chamber

filled with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> to retain the pH and bicarbonate levels of serum. For patient samples, the extent of growth was calculated from the change in OD during growth by subtracting the baseline OD from the peak level reached at the end of the growth, and was expressed as  $\Delta$ OD. Viable counts were determined by plating on trypcase-soy agar plates (bioMérieux, France).

# RESULTS

#### 1 Pharmaceutical apotransferrin preparation (I)

#### 1.1 Large scale purification of apotransferrin

In fraction IV, transferrin comprises 20-30% of the total protein and the main impurity is albumin (approx. 50%). The bulk of the albumin and other impurities were removed in the flow-through fraction of the first chromatography step, the cation exchange (Fig. 3). By using a pH-dependent elution in this chromatography, no buffer exchange was needed before the second chromatography, the anion exchange. This chromatography step was the final purification step. It was preceded by the solvent-detergent (SD) virus inactivation step and the SD chemicals were removed in this step by extensive column flushing before elution. In the eluate recovered from the anion exchange step, apotransferrin with a protein purity of at least 98% was obtained (Fig. 3). Later steps, including the diafiltration, concentration and the virus removal filtration, did not significantly increase the protein purity. In the overall process, over 90% of apotransferrin could be recovered from the dissolved fraction IV solution.



**Figure 3.** Flow scheme of the apotransferrin manufacturing process and SDS-PAGE purity analysis gel (non-reduced, Coomassie stained) with samples taken from the purification. Lane 1, dissolved fraction IV; Lane 2: partially purified apotransferrin after cation exchange; Lane 3: purified apotransferrin after anion exchange; Lane 4: formulated finished product.

By dissolving the fraction IV paste in water, the pH of the solution remained at the same level of pH 5.7 as used in the ethanol precipitation. Evidently due to the low pH and citrate buffer used for fraction IV precipitation, the iron was mostly dissociated from transferrin in the dissolved fraction IV. By adding EDTA to the solution and applying the solution to the first ion exchange at the low pH, iron was effectively removed by the wash fractions and apotransferrin with a low iron content corresponding to about 0.3% saturation could be recovered.

The specific virus inactivation and removal steps in the process comprised the SD treatment, the virus filtration and the PEG precipitation. Virus validation studies showed that the SD treatment rapidly inactivated the enveloped viruses HIV and BVDV with  $\geq$ 4.7 log<sub>10</sub> and  $\geq$ 5.1 log<sub>10</sub> reduction factors, respectively. The removal of the non-enveloped parvovirus B19 was studied in spiking experiments using PCR for virus detection. The results indicated that 3.7 log<sub>10</sub> was removed in the PEG precipitation step and >4.5 log<sub>10</sub> in the virus filtration. The virus filtration step could be carried out with high recovery at a high protein load of 4 kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

#### **1.2** Identification and characterisation of the apotransferrin product

The first 25 amino acids in the N-terminal sequence of the purified product showed identity with human transferrin. The identity was also confirmed with mass mapping with MALDI-TOF of the peptides after cleavage with endoproteinase-LysC, and revealed over 90% of the expected apotransferrin peptides. Electrospray mass spectrometry of the protein indicated a mass of the protein of 79556, which is the same as the calculated mass of 79555.4 of the apotransferrin molecule with two biantennary disialylated glycans. The mass was calculated from the polypeptide chain (75181.4 Da) with 19 disulphide bonds (-38 Da), two glycans (2x2224 Da) and glycan linkage (-36 Da). IEX-HPLC was used to separate the transferrin into four peaks. The IEX-HPLC gave reproducible results for different transferrin batches. The proportions of the main peaks (peaks 2-4) were 7-9%, 79-83% and 9-12% respectively (Fig. 4). The masses of the peaks and the glycan structures to which they resembled closely to are presented in Fig. 4.

For more detailed glycan analysis, glycan chains were enzymatically removed from apotransferrin and characterised by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. Glycan analysis confirmed the presence of the glycan structures in the IEX-HPLC peaks as predicted by electrospray mass spectrometry. Glycan analysis also revealed traces of structures carrying fucose in all IEX-HPLC peaks. Minor oxidation of single amino acids were found for some of the mass structures. The mass spectrometric studies revealed no chemical modifications other than glycosylation and the presence of the predicted disulphide bonds, except minor oxidation.

The product purity and the protein integrity and conformation was studied for several production batches. The results indicated here are mean results of four batches. In SEC-HPLC the product was separated into a major peak of 98.5% corresponding to transferrin monomer and a minor peak, which corresponded to a molecular size of 180-290 kDa. The non-monomeric peak contained mainly IgA and IgG and a small amount of transferrin dimer. No polymers or fragments were found. The product showed a major band of 76 kDa in SDS-PAGE. The iron binding capacity was between 92% and 96% for different batches. The assay proved reproducible with imprecision CVs of 3% and 1%, inter- and intra-assay, respectively. The method was used in combination with urea-PAGE, which showed that the iron-free apotransferrin was fully converted into the iron-saturated form when iron was added. The iron content of the product was low, corresponding to approximately 0.3% transferrin saturation. No zinc or aluminium could be detected. The major plasma-derived impurities were hemopexin (0.6%), IgA (0.7%) or IgG (0.3%). Protease contaminants (plasmin/plasminogen and prekallikrein activator) were all below the detection limits of the assays.



**Figure 4.** Apotransferrin separated into four glycoform peaks by IEX-HPLC. The molecular weight of apotransferrin in the peaks was measured by electrospray mass spectrometry and the proposed glycan chains are shown. The symbols for the monosaccharide residues are: ( $\blacktriangleleft$ ) N-acetylneuraminic acid; ( $\square$ ) galactose; ( $\blacksquare$ ) N-acetylglucosamine; ( $\circ$ ) mannose and ( $\nabla$ ) fucose.

The stability of the 50 g/l liquid formulation was studied. The most informative assays to detect changes in the product proved to be the iron binding capacity, the transferrin iron forms by urea-PAGE, IEX-HPLC and SEC-HPLC. The liquid product proved to be stable for up to 2 years at refrigerator (2-8°C) and 12 months at room temperature. Lyophilised formulations were stable for four years at refrigerator temperature. The finished product was sterile, had a low endotoxin content (<2 IU/ml) and was pyrogen free according to the European Pharmacopoeia methods.

## 2 Binding of NTBI with apotransferrin

#### 2.1 Evaluation of assay for measuring NTBI (II)

In the bleomycin assay, the sample and reagent volumes were halved and absorbance measurements were done in microwell plates. The bleomycin assay proved reproducible. The imprecision coefficients of variation (CVs) were 7.7% and 8.2% intraassay and 18.4% and 9.8% interassay for a low (0.2 µmol/l) and a high (1.5 µmol/l) control, respectively. To study the assay accuracy, ferric nitrilotriacetate (FeNTA) was added to saturate transferrin in serum and the full saturation point was confirmed by urea-PAGE. The NTBI was  $\geq 0.1 \,\mu$ mol/l in samples with full saturation. The recovery of the added iron was only ~33% in samples with full transferrin saturation. The interference of sample haemolysis was studied. The haemolysis had a clear raising effect on NTBI, but had no effect on the transferrin saturation or on the total iron. The degree of haemolysis was studied visually and by haemoglobin determination. In samples with non-visible haemolysis (haemoglobin 290-645 mg/l) up to 0.07 µmol/l NTBI could be measured. No interference of ferritin was found when patient samples containing high ferritin concentrations were studied, nor was the treatment drug cyclophosphamide found to interfere with the assay. A detection limit of 0.1 µmol/l could be established based on accuracy studies and on the interference of non-visible haemolysis.

399 patient serum samples were studied and the NTBI levels were compared with transferrin saturation values. NTBI ( $\geq 0.1 \ \mu mol/l$ ) was found only when transferrin saturation was >80%. When samples with visible haemolysis were excluded, there were no positive samples with <80% transferrin saturation. The NTBI varied between 0 and 0.97  $\ \mu mol/l$  in patient samples without visible haemolysis. The highest NTBI concentration measured with the bleomycin assay in a haemolysed patient sample was 1.6  $\ \mu mol/l$ .

The bleomycin assay was compared with the chelation method for measuring NTBI. The detection limit of the chelation assay was  $1.5 \mu mol/l$  and the recovery of iron in

serum was about 64%. The chelation method gave clearly higher NTBI concentrations (up to 10-14  $\mu$ mol/l) than the bleomycin assay (up to 1.27  $\mu$ mol/l) in 61 samples studied in parallel. There was no clear correlation between the quantitative results of the two assays in samples above the detection limit of the respective assays. Due to a low sensitivity (0.01 AU/ $\mu$ mol/l) of the colorimetric determination of the chelated iron, iron quantification in the ultrafiltrate was also studied by AAS. The AAS gave similar results as the colorimetric assay, and verified the higher NTBI concentration compared with the bleomycin assay. However, the chelation method gave positive results for some samples also at <80% transferrin saturation. In these samples the partial transferrin saturation was confirmed by urea-PAGE.

#### 2.2 Binding of NTBI in patient serum (III, V)

Apotransferrin was administered to SCT patients in clinical trials. In the first trial (III), a single dose of 100 mg/kg was given to six patients three days after the SCT. Serum samples taken before and after the administration and the serum iron parameters including NTBI and urea-PAGE were studied. Initially, all patients had serum transferrin saturation >80% and NTBI in their serum. 15 min after the apotransferrin injection, serum NTBI had disappeared in all patients and transferrin saturation was 1.95 g/l.

Before apotransferrin administration, only fully saturated diferric transferrin was found in serum, shown by urea-PAGE. At 15 min after the injection, iron-free and monoferric forms appeared in the sera of all patients. The amount of the diferric transferrin remained about the same in five patients but was reduced in one patient. This suggested that most of the iron bound by the administered apotransferrin represented NTBI and was not shuttled from the fully saturated endogenous transferrin. At the later time points the amount of the diferric form increased, while the iron-free form disappeared first and the monoferric form remained detectable somewhat longer. This indicated that the administered apotransferrin was first converted into the monoferric form and further into the diferric form. The conversion occurred at different rates in the individual patients and coincided with the increase in the calculated transferrin saturation. The amount of iron bound by the administered apotransferrin during the first 15 min was on the average 16  $\mu$ mol/l (range 11-22  $\mu$ mol/l), when calculated from the amount of formed monoferric transferrin. This was much higher than the NTBI concentrations measured by the bleomycin-assay before the administration  $(0.3 \pm 0.1 \mu \text{mol/l}, \text{mean} \pm$ SD ) (II).

NTBI reappeared and the transferrin saturation exceeded 80% 12-48 h after the injection in four patients and after six days in one patient. NTBI remained non-detectable for the whole 12-day follow-up period in one patient.

Apotransferrin was also given in repeated doses to twenty patients, starting six days before the SCT, before the onset of myeloablative conditioning which leads to appearance of NTBI in patient sera. Three different dosage regimens were studied during a three-week follow-up period, the total doses per patient were 0.3, 0.6 and 1 g/kg, respectively. With the repeated doses, the occurrence of NTBI could be completely avoided in 5 of 8 patients who received 1 g/kg of apotransferrin and in one patient who received 0.3 g/kg. In the other patients, the apotransferrin dosing was not sufficient to completely prevent full transferrin saturation and NTBI appearance during the follow-up period.

# 3 Growth of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* (IV, V)

The growth of *S. epidermidis* in serum-free conditions in the presence of pure transferrin at different saturation levels was studied. The transferrin saturation was monitored by absorbance measurements and the transferrin iron forms by urea-PAGE. At low initial bacterial cell densities  $(10^2 - 10^4 \text{ CFU/ml})$ , the growth of *S. epidermidis* was critically dependent on NTBI and a high transferrin saturation of at least 90%. At higher initial densities, growth was detected also in the presence of partially saturated transferrin. The siderophore induction measured as the siderophore index was highest when the inoculum was precultivated in iron-depleted media. Addition of FeNTA up to 1 µmol/l resulted in a linear decrease of the siderophore index. Induction of siderophore production during precultivation did not change the growth dependence on NTBI. All three *S. epidermidis* strains showed the same dependence on full transferrin saturation for growth.

In serum, a similar influence of NTBI on growth was detected. In normal serum samples with iron added to form NTBI and in patient samples with NTBI, *S. epidermidis* grew consistently at all inoculated  $(10^2 – 10^5 \text{ CFU/ml})$  cell concentrations. In normal serum, no growth was detected at inoculated cell densities up to  $10^3 \text{ CFU/ml}$ . At higher initial densities, growth was detected but with a slower rate than in the samples with NTBI. Addition of apotransferrin to bind NTBI restored the growth inhibitory effect, whereas addition of holotransferrin did not. Again, the three *S. epidermidis* strains behaved similarly.

The ability of *S. epidermidis* to grow in samples from SCT patients was studied. Using one of the multiresistant strains, bacteria  $(10^3 \text{ CFU/ml})$  were inoculated to serum

samples and the growth was measured as the increase in OD from baseline to its maximal level, expressed as  $\Delta$ OD. The sensitivity of the OD assay to detect growth in serum samples was verified by viable count measurements. The detection limit for significant growth corresponded to a  $\Delta$ OD value of 0.05, which was calculated as 10 SD above the background  $\Delta$ OD value of serum samples (*n*=18) without growth curve. The threshold density of *S. epidermidis* which could be detected by the OD determination was about 10<sup>6</sup> CFU/ml and thus a positive  $\Delta$ OD value indicated growth of at least 3 log<sub>10</sub> in 24 h.

The bacterial growth studied in 132 patient samples was found to have a close relation to the presence of NTBI and a high transferrin saturation level (>80%). In samples from two patients who received no apotransferrin, the bacterial growth was promoted at the same time as NTBI appeared in serum due to myeolobalative treatment. In three patients who received a single dose of apotransferrin the growth was prevented simultaneously as the NTBI was bound by transferrin. The bacteriostatic effect typically disappeared when NTBI reappeared. A patient who received repeated apotransferrin in high enough doses to prevent formation of NTBI also had restored bacteriostatic effect in serum throughout the follow-up period.

Markers for septic infections (fever >38°C, clearly elevated CRP >30 mg/l) were compared in the patients who did not receive apotransferrin or received repeated doses of apotransferrin at two different dose levels, 0.3-0.6 g/kg and 1.0 g/kg respectively. There was a trend, however not statistically significant, towards a lower incidence of suspected septic infections among the patients who received high apotransferrin doses compared with the patients who did not receive apotransferrin. The apotransferrin administrations reduced in a dose-dependent manner the number of days with detectable NTBI in the patient serum. When the total number of days with positive infection markers was evaluated as a proportion of all study days, there was a significant reduction in the number of days with fever and days with elevated CRP in the patient groups who received low and high doses of apotransferrin, respectively. When both markers were evaluated together, there was a significant reduction in the high dose group.

# DISCUSSION

## 1 Apotransferrin product (I)

The developed manufacturing process enabled production of pure and virus-safe apotransferrin with high yield and only a few process steps. Transferrin was maintained in the iron-free apoform from the beginning of the process, and excess iron was removed in the first ion exchange step. It was therefore not necessary to have a separate iron-removal step. Apotransferrin was purified by a combination of a cation and a anion exchange chromatography. Only one ultrafiltration step was needed for concentration and buffer exchange of the pure apotransferrin solution.

The viral safety of the apotransferrin product was based on reduction of potential virus load in the starting material by donor selection and testing for infection markers and by effective virus inactivation and removal during the manufacturing. The major virus inactivation step in the process was SD treatment, which very reliably inactivates all enveloped viruses (Horowitz et al., 1993; Pehta, 1996). Virus filtration with a 15 nm pore size hollow fibre filter effectively removes even the small non-enveloped viruses, such as HAV and parvovirus (Burnouf-Radosevich et al., 1994). Parvovirus B19 currently remains a problem with plasma products because its level in the starting plasma may be very high (up to  $10^9$  gen, eq./ml) and a single virus filtration step may not be capable of removing the potential virus load from the plasma pools (Siegl and Cassinotti, 1998). Although clinically significant parvovirus transmissions by plasma products are apparently very rare, parvovirus transmission might be harmful to immunocompromised patients receiving high-dose chemotherapy (Schmidt et al., 2001), who participated in this study. Therefore, the starting plasma was tested for parvovirus B 19 by PCR as a complementary measure on the overall virus safety. Both PEG precipitation and 15 nm virus filtration were implemented to the process in order to achieve two effective removal steps for parvovirus. Considering the potential level of parvovirus in the plasma pools after PCR screening and the clearance of parvovirus observed in virus removal studies of the process, it could be concluded that the finished product was with high confidence safe also with respect to parvovirus transmission.

The structural characterisation indicated that the pure apotransferrin product was identical with human plasma iron-free transferrin. Electrospray mass spectrometry did not indicate chemical modifications in the apotransferrin molecule other than the N-linked glycans and the predicted 19 disulphide bonds, except minor oxidation most probably of single methionine residues. The identified glycan chains were structurally closely similar to the structures described before for human plasma transferrin (Fu and

van Halbeek, 1992). The minor transferrin variant with only one biantennary glycan chain has not been identified in the earlier studies.

The process yielded a pharmaceutical composition of apotransferrin, which had a purity of at least 98%, contained mainly monomeric transferrin and had no detectable polymers or aggregates. Assays were developed for the assessment of the iron binding capacity and integrity of the pure apotransferrin product, which proved to be sensitive indicators of the stability of the product. Both the lyophilised formulations and the liquid formulation proved to have good stability at refrigerator temperature, four and two years respectively. The developed transferrin assays were also used to study the quality of the finished product. Results of products from several batches confirmed that the production method could be carried out with consistent results for the finished product, which is a prerequisite for a production method of a medicinal product. The formulation with sodium chloride at pH 6 was suitable for intravenous administration and the product sterility and process hygiene controls were confirmed by the pharmacopoeia methods.

Potentially harmful impurities described in other transferrin products include aggregates and polymers formed during pasteurisation (Haupt, 1993). Presence of high amounts of process derived aluminium (Rigal *et al.*, 1989) and zinc (Rolf *et al.*, 1997) has been reported. The product with a high aluminium content was used in a study with three patients undergoing myeloablative chemotherapy and bone marrow transplantation. Two of the three patients developed acute renal failure, which may have been associated with the administration of the high aluminium content of the transferrin preparation. The study did not demonstrate efficacy of the transferrin preparation in the binding of free iron in the patients or other benefits, but rather suggested that the therapeutic use of transferrin may not be safe. As with other plasma derivatives, contaminating plasma proteases present a further possible cause for adverse effects in patients. However, the level of all these plasma and process derived impurities was very low in the present apotransferrin product.

# 2 Determination of serum NTBI (II, III)

The bleomycin assay evaluation demonstrated that the microwell modification of the assay could be carried out reproducibly using one-half the amount of reagents and serum compared with the original assay (Evans and Halliwell, 1994), which made it possible to study large numbers of patient samples in microwell plates. Sample haemolysis interfered with the assay, and there was a clear correlation between the NTBI and the haemoglobin concentrations. An earlier report indicated that pure haemoglobin does not interfere with the assay (Gutteridge *et al.*, 1981). It is possible,

that with the mechanical haemolysis studied here other degradation products from haemoglobin were formed which could have caused the interference. However, the non-visible haemolysis did not result in false positives when using a detection limit of 0.1  $\mu$ mol/l, which was also the detection limit which was measured in the accuracy studies.

When the bleomycin assay was compared with the chelation method for measuring NTBI, it was found that the latter one gave NTBI concentrations that were clearly higher (max 14  $\mu$ mol/l) than with the bleomycin assay (max 1.6  $\mu$ mol/l). Similar NTBI concentrations in patient samples obtained by the bleomycin assay have been found by (Carmine *et al.*, 1995), whereas levels of 20-28  $\mu$ mol/l have been measured by others (Halliwell *et al.*, 1988; Harrison *et al.*, 1994). The higher total levels were found with an earlier version of the bleomycin assay (Gutteridge *et al.*, 1981) without the final butanol extraction step, which apparently reduces the risk of possible interfering compounds in the spectrophotometric measurement. Using the chelation method the NTBI concentrations were in a similar range of 0-10  $\mu$ mol/l as found by others using the same type of assay (Bradley *et al.*, 1997; Gosriwatana *et al.*, 1999).

It was also found that unlike the bleomycin assay in which positive samples were detected only when transferrin saturation was >80%, the chelation method detected NTBI in some serum samples also when the transferrin saturation was <80%. The use of a chelator to mobilize NTBI in serum samples evidently is a reason for the higher NTBI levels gained by the chelation-based assay. The chelator probably mobilises iron from complexes in which it is not available for the bleomycin reagent. 80 mmol/l NTA was able to mobilise iron from albumin, but also in small amounts from other proteins such as transferrin (~0.5  $\mu$ mol/l) and ferritin (~0.3  $\mu$ mol/l) (Gosriwatana *et al.*, 1999). The use of the chelating agent could also explain our results of detectable NTBI in serum samples with <80% transferrin saturation, if the chelating agent had mobilised a small amount of transferrin-bound iron.

In the patients who received a single apotransferrin dose, the level of NTBI was also calculated from the amount of iron bound to the administered apotransferrin, based on the shift of apotransferrin into the monoferric form measured by urea-PAGE 15 min after the injection. The average level (16  $\mu$ mol/l) represented about 50% of total serum iron in the patients, which was slightly higher but in the same order of magnitude as found by the chelation method. It is possible that the intravenously administered apotransferrin had the capacity to mobilise NTBI from complexes in the vessel wall. Such loosely bound iron cannot be measured in serum samples. The vascular walls can theoretically provide polyanionic sites for NTBI, such as glycosaminoglycan chains of endothelial surface proteoglycans. Another speculation for the high concentration of NTBI calculated in the 15 min samples, is that the apotransferrin was able to immediately sequester low-molecular-weight iron which is released by macrophages

from degrading erythrocytes (Fillet *et al.*, 1989; Moura *et al.*, 1998). Instead of being at least partly taken up by the transferrin independent uptake mechanism in parenchymal and especially liver cells (Craven *et al.*, 1987; Kaplan, 2002), the iron could be directly bound by the apotransferrin which was available after the infusion.

The results of the different methods to measure NTBI indicate that the bleomycin assay does not measure the total amount of NTBI. The true concentration of NTBI in serum of the SCT patients can most likely be in the order of 10  $\mu$ mol/l, even up to 20  $\mu$ mol/l, as measured by the chelation method and calculated as the iron bound to injected apotransferrin *in vivo*. However, the bleomycin assay has high specificity and does not measure ferritin iron, which makes it a useful method to detect NTBI. The NTBI measured by the bleomycin assay is capable of binding to bleomycin and generating free radicals and is therefore considered to be a measure of the redox activity of NTBI. The lower concentrations obtained with the bleomycin assay reflects the heterogeneous nature of NTBI being a mixture of different iron forms with different affinities for different chelators (Hider, 2002; Petrat *et al.*, 2002). It could mean that only a portion of the loosely bound NTBI measured in serum is redox-active and capable of binding to bleomycin whereas a larger portion can be chelated by NTA.

## 3 Binding of NTBI by apotransferrin administration (III, V)

In the patients who received single dose injections of apotransferrin, NTBI measured by the bleomycin assay disappeared from the sera of all patients indicating that it was effectively bound by the administered apotransferrin. NTBI remained undetectable for a variable time ranging from a few hours up to several days. In most patients, NTBI reappeared 12-48 h after the apotransferrin injection. Another indication of iron binding by the administered apotransferrin was the conversion of transferrin injection. Complete prevention of NTBI during the whole studied SCT period could be achieved with repeated administrations starting before the onset of the myeloablative treatment.

Apparently no other iron-chelating agents have been studied in SCT patients, but desferrioxamine has been extensively studied in chronic iron overload diseases such as hereditary haemochromatosis and thalassemia major. It has been shown that part of the NTBI in haemachromatosis patients is not effectively chelated with desferrioxamine (Breuer *et al.*, 2001) and the presence of NTBI in patient sera without full transferrin saturation has been reported (Aruoma *et al.*, 1988; Gosriwatana *et al.*, 1999; Loreal *et al.*, 2000). However, our results with the bleomycin assay did not indicate the presence of NTBI unless transferrin saturation exceeded 80%. The disappearance of bleomycin-detectable NTBI after the apotransferrin injection indicated that the redox-active iron in

the serum of SCT patients was in a form that was effectively bound by transferrin. It is possible that the underlying disease is the reason for the differences in NTBI forms found in the different patients groups. In haemochromatosis, the NTBI is formed after a slow accumulation of body iron stores over a long time period of several, even decades of years. In the haematological patients studied in this work, a halt of erythropoiesis and release of iron from senescent erythrocytes form the NTBI within hours. It may be, that the gradual formation and long presence of NTBI in the haemochromatitic patients may lead to less soluble and perhaps oligomeric iron isoforms that have a low affinity for transferrin or desferrioxamine (Hider, 2002).

The results indicate the feasibility of using apotransferrin as a natural iron binding agent for the SCT patients. In contrast to chelation by desferrioxamine, whereby iron is excreted from the body (Porter, 2001), the recovering erythropoetic cells of the bone marrow could utilise transferrin-iron after the stem cell transplantation. The clinical efficacy of the apotransferrin was not within the scope of this work and remains to be studied in larger patient groups. The results from the biochemical efficacy studied in this work indicate that doses of apotransferrin of 1 g/kg, or even higher, will be needed to prevent NTBI formation in the SCT patients.

# 4 Transferrin, NTBI and the growth of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* (IV,V)

In serum free conditions with transferrin, the growth of *S. epidermidis* was critically dependent on NTBI and high transferrin saturation for growth. A similar effect was found when the growth in serum was studied. At inoculated cell densities of 10<sup>4</sup> CFU/ml and higher, growth could be detected but with a slower growth rate than in serum samples that had full transferrin saturation and NTBI. When the growth in SCT patient samples was studied, 80% was found to be a threshold for transferrin saturation, above which bacteria grew. There was also a strong association between bacterial growth and NTBI.

Earlier studies of growth of *S. epidermidis* in serum free conditions have indicated growth in the presence of iron-saturated transferrin (Lindsay *et al.*, 1995; Modun *et al.*, 1998), which is in line with the present studies. It was suggested that a cell wall receptor identified as glyceraldehyd-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) acts as a transferrin receptor and facilitates iron removal from the receptor-bound transferrin (Modun *et al.*, 2000). In these studies, high  $(10^8 \text{ CFU/ml})$  bacterial densities were used. In our studies, the inability of the bacteria to grow at low initial densities in the presence of partially saturated transferrin suggests that iron displacement from transferrin requires high bacterial concentrations. It is thus possible, that the receptor mediated mechanism to

scavenge iron from transferrin requires presence of high cell densities, perhaps thereby forming high concentrations of organic phosphates that might displace iron from transferrin (Morgan, 1979). The GAPDH receptor-mediated facilitation of iron was recently questioned in the case of *S. aureus* by Taylor and Heinrichs (2002). They found that GAPDH showed no affinity for transferrin, and a new cell wall protein was described as the transferrin receptor. Unlike the GAPDH, this protein was expressed only in iron-limiting conditions. The role of GAPDH as a receptor for transferrin in the staphylococci is therefore probably not fully clarified. It is possible that the role of GAPDH in iron transport is mainly due to its capability to form the phosphate compounds that at high concentrations can release iron from transferrin.

The growth of *S. epidermidis* was studied in samples taken from SCT patients who received different doses of apotransferrin or no administration. The appearance of NTBI and loss of growth inhibition coincided when analysed in sequential serum samples taken after initiation of myeloablative conditioning. Intravenously administered apotransferrin that effectively bound NTBI also restored the growth inhibition. Repeated administrations of apotransferrin could in high doses maintain the growth inhibitory effect during the whole stem cell transplantation period.

Because the ability of S. epidermidis to multiply in serum in the absence of NTBI was dependent on the initial bacterial density, the initial bacterial count may play a role in the pathogenesis of septic infections. S. epidermidis often contaminates central venous catheters, where biofilm formation promotes the adherence and protection of the bacteria (Kloos and Bannerman, 1994). In stem cell transplant patients, the oral mucosa is another possible route of infection due to treatment-related mucositis (Kennedy et al., 2000). In catheter infections, there is an association between the number of organisms retrieved from the catheter surface and the risk for infection, and infection occurs only when the number exceeds a certain quantitative threshold (Raad, 1998; Sherertz et al., 1990). In a study of catheter-related bacteremias, blood drawn from the catheters had up to 10<sup>5</sup> CFU/ml of coagulase-negative staphylococci, whereas peripheral blood samples had  $10^1 - 10^2$  CFU/ml (Flynn et al., 1987). Another study showed that the mean bacterial cell concentration in peripheral blood samples in blood stream infections caused by coagulase-negative staphylococci was 33 CFU/ml (Herwaldt et al., 1996). It may be reasoned, that the high local density of S. epidermidis in the intravenous catheters promotes bacterial growth also in the absence of NTBI, whereas the proliferation of the low counts occurring in the peripheral blood may depend on the availability of NTBI.

Among the small number of patients in the present study, the incidence of septic infections was not significantly different in the patients who received apotransferrin than in the control patients. When the patient groups were compared with respect to the

total number of days with fever or elevated CRP, the patients who received repeated doses of apotransferrin had significantly less positive days than the patients who did not receive apotransferrin. Correspondingly, the number of days with intravenous antibiotics was significantly smaller during the study period in the patients who received repeated apotransferrin infusions. Although the patients were not compared in a randomised setting, this suggests that repeated infusions of apotransferrin may have protected the neutropenic patients against septic infections.

# CONCLUSIONS

A manufacturing method was developed whereby human apotransferrin can be produced with high recovery from Cohn fraction IV with only a few process steps. The product has high purity and a native conformation and is suitable for intravenous infusion. A stable liquid formulation was developed. The production method comprises virus inactivation and removal steps, which with high confidence contribute to the virus safety of the product.

The microwell modification of the bleomycin assay for NTBI determination is reproducible and has a high specificity to detect NTBI in serum samples at >80% transferrin saturation, when haemolysed samples are excluded. The bleomycin assay measures redox-active iron, but it underestimates the true concentration of NTBI. The concentration of NTBI can be calculated from the shift of transferrin iron forms found *in vivo* after intravenous infusion of apotransferrin to patients. It can also be determined with the chelation based method, which, however, has a lower specificity than the bleomycin method. In the SCT patients, the concentration of NTBI can be as high as 20  $\mu$ mol/l.

Apotransferrin given in single intravenous doses to six patients bound NTBI effectively, although in most cases temporarily. With repeated high dose regimens, the appearance of NTBI could be prevented in 5 of 8 patients.

The opportunistic pathogen *S. epidermidis* is dependent on NTBI for growth at low bacterial concentrations. Apotransferrin administered to patients binds NTBI and restores the growth inhibitory effect of serum. Apotransferrin might protect the patients against infections by *S. epidermidis* and other opportunistic pathogens whose growth is dependent on NTBI.

In conclusion, the apotransferrin is pure and safe and shows *in vivo* the biochemical effects that can be expected of a functional human apotransferrin product. In SCT patients it is possible to prevent the appearance of NTBI and maintain the bacterial growth inhibitory effect in serum.

# REFERENCES

- Ali SA, Joao HC, Csonga R, Hammerschmid F, Steinkasserer A. High-yield production of functionally active human serum transferrin using a baculovirus expression system, and its structural characterization. Biochem J 1996;319:191-195.
- Anderson GJ. Non-transferrin-bound iron and cellular toxicity. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1999;14:105-108.
- Archibald F. Lactobacillus plantarum, an organism not requiring iron. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1983;19:29-32.
- Aruoma OI, Bomford A, Polson RJ, Halliwell B. Nontransferrin-bound iron in plasma from hemochromatosis patients: effect of phlebotomy therapy. Blood 1988;72:1416-1419.
- Bailey S, Evans RW, Garratt RC, Gorinsky B, Hasnain S, Horsburgh C, Jhoti H, Lindley PF, Mydin A, Sarra R. Molecular structure of serum transferrin at 3.3-A resolution. Biochemistry 1988;27:5804-5812.
- Baldwin DA, Jenny ER, Aisen P. The effect of human serum transferrin and milk lactoferrin on hydroxyl radical formation from superoxide and hydrogen peroxide. J Biol Chem 1984;259:13391-13394.
- Beare S, Steward WP. Plasma free iron and chemotherapy toxicity. Lancet 1996;347:342-343.
- Bethke U, Kothe N, Rudnick D, Möller W, Kloft M. Method of preparing a high-purity, virus safe, biologically active transferrin preparation. US Patent 5,041,537. 1991.
- Beutler E, Gelbart T, Lee P, Trevino R, Fernandez MA, Fairbanks VF. Molecular characterization of a case of atransferrinemia. Blood 2000;96:4071-4074.
- Boelaert JR, de Locht M, Van Cutsem J, Kerrels V, Cantinieaux B, Verdonck A, Van Landuyt HW, Schneider YJ. Mucormycosis during deferoxamine therapy is a siderophore-mediated infection. In vitro and in vivo animal studies. J Clin Invest 1993;91:1979-1986.
- Bottomley SS. Secondary iron overload disorders. Semin Hematol 1998;35:77-86.
- Bottone EJ. Yersinia enterocolitica: the charisma continues. Clin Microbiol Rev 1997;10:257-276.
- Bradley SJ, Gosriwitana I, Srichairatanakool S, Hider RC, Porter JB. Non-transferrin-bound iron induced by myeloablative chemotherapy. Br J Haematol 1997;99:337-343.
- Breuer W, Cabantchik ZI. A fluorescence-based one-step assay for serum non-transferrin-bound iron. Anal Biochem 2001;299:194-202.
- Breuer W, Ermers MJ, Pootrakul P, Abramov A, Hershko C, Cabantchik ZI. Desferrioxamine-chelatable iron, a component of serum non-transferrin-bound iron, used for assessing chelation therapy. Blood 2001;97:792-798.
- Breuer W, Hershko C, Cabantchik ZI. The importance of non-transferrin bound iron in disorders of iron metabolism. Transfus Sci 2000a;23:185-192.
- Breuer W, Ronson A, Slotki IN, Abramov A, Hershko C, Cabantchik ZI. The assessment of serum nontransferrin-bound iron in chelation therapy and iron supplementation. Blood 2000b;95:2975-2982.
- Brissot P, Wright TL, Ma WL, Weisiger RA. Efficient clearance of non-transferrin-bound iron by rat liver. Implications for hepatic iron loading in iron overload states. J Clin Invest 1985;76:1463-1470.
- Brown JP, Hewick RM, Hellstrom I, Hellstrom KE, Doolittle RF, Dreyer WJ. Human melanomaassociated antigen p97 is structurally and functionally related to transferrin. Nature 1982;296:171-173.
- Bullen JJ, Spalding PB, Ward CG, Gutteridge JM. Hemochromatosis, iron and septicemia caused by Vibrio vulnificus. Arch Intern Med 1991;151:1606-1609.
- Burkitt MJ, Milne L, Raafat A. A simple, highly sensitive and improved method for the measurement of bleomycin-detectable iron: the 'catalytic iron index' and its value in the assessment of iron status in haemochromatosis. Clin Sci (Colch ) 2001;100:239-247.

- Burnouf-Radosevich M, Appourchaux P, Huart JJ, Burnouf T. Nanofiltration, a new specific virus elimination method applied to high-purity factor IX and factor XI concentrates. Vox Sang 1994;67:132-138.
- Carmine TC, Evans P, Bruchelt G, Evans R, Handgretinger R, Niethammer D, Halliwell B. Presence of iron catalytic for free radical reactions in patients undergoing chemotherapy: implications for therapeutic management. Cancer Lett 1995;94:219-226.
- Caroline L, Rosner F, Kozinn PJ. Elevated serum iron, low unbound transferrin and candidiasis in acute leukemia. Blood 1969;34:441-451.
- Chart H, Griffiths E. The availability of iron and the growth of Vibrio vulnificus in sera from patients with haemochromatosis. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1985;26:227-231.
- Ciucanu I, Kerek F. A simple rapid method for the parmethylation of carbohydrates. Carbohydr Res 1984;131:209-217.
- Cohn EJ, Strong LE, Hughes WLJr, Mulford DL, Ashworth JN, Melin M, Taylor HL. Preparation and properties of serum and plasma proteins. IV. A system for the separation into fractions of the protein and lipoprotein components of biological tissues and fluids. J Am Chem Soc 1946;68:459-475.
- Conrad ME, Umbreit JN. Iron absorption and transport an update. Am J Hematol 2000;64:287-298.
- Craven CM, Alexander J, Eldridge M, Kushner JP, Bernstein S, Kaplan J. Tissue distribution and clearance kinetics of non-transferrin-bound iron in the hypotransferrinemic mouse: a rodent model for hemochromatosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1987;84:3457-3461.
- de Jong G, van Dijk JP, van Eijk HG. The biology of transferrin. Clin Chim Acta 1990;190:1-46.
- Durken M, Nielsen P, Knobel S, Finckh B, Herrnring C, Dresow B, Kohlschutter B, Stockschlader M, Kruger WH, Kohlschutter A, Zander AR. Nontransferrin-bound iron in serum of patients receiving bone marrow transplants. Free Radic Biol Med 1997;22:1159-1163.
- Ehni WF, Reller LB, Ellison RT. Bacteremia in granulocytopenic patients in a tertiary-care general hospital. Rev Infect Dis 1991;13:613-619.
- Eisenwiener H-G, Rietz P, Schläpfer P. Die Bestimmung des Eisens mit der Guanidiniumchlorid/Ferrozine-Methode. J Clin Chem Clin Biochem 17, 149. 1979.
- Elishoov H, Or R, Strauss N, Engelhard D. Nosocomial colonization, septicemia, and Hickman/Broviac catheter-related infections in bone marrow transplant recipients. A 5-year prospective study. Medicine (Baltimore ) 1998;77:83-101.
- Eskelinen S, Haikonen M, Raisanen S. Ferene-S as the chromogen for serum iron determinations. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1983;43:453-455.
- Esposito BP, Epsztejn S, Breuer W, Cabantchik ZI. A review of fluorescence methods for assessing labile iron in cells and biological fluids. Anal Biochem 2002;304:1-18.
- Evans PJ, Evans R, Kovar IZ, Holton AF, Halliwell B. Bleomycin-detectable iron in the plasma of premature and full-term neonates. FEBS Lett 1992;303:210-212.
- Evans PJ, Evans RW, Bomford A, Williams R, Halliwell B. Metal ions catalytic for free radical reactions in the plasma of patients with fulminant hepatic failure. Free Radic Res 1994a;20:139-144.
- Evans PJ, Halliwell B. Measurement of iron and copper in biological systems: bleomycin and copperphenanthroline assays. Methods Enzymol 1994;233:82-92.
- Evans RW, Crawley JB, Joannou CL, Sharma ND. Iron proteins. In: Bullen J, Griffiths E (Eds.), Iron and infection. Molecular, physiological and clinical aspects. Chichester, John Wiley & Sons, 1999: pp. 27-86.
- Evans RW, Crawley JB, Garratt RC, Grossmann JG, Neu M, Aitken A, Patel KJ, Meilak A, Wong C, Singh J, .. Characterization and structural analysis of a functional human serum transferrin variant and implications for receptor recognition. Biochemistry 1994b;33:12512-12520.
- Evans RW, Williams J. The electrophoresis of transferrins in urea/polyacrylamide gels. Biochem J 1980;189:541-546.

- Fairbanks VF, Beutler E. Iron metabolism. In: Beutler E, Lichtman MA, Coller BS, Kipps TJ (Eds.), Williams hematology. McGraw-Hill, Inc., 1995: pp. 369-380.
- Fillet G, Beguin Y, Baldelli L. Model of reticuloendothelial iron metabolism in humans: abnormal behavior in idiopathic hemochromatosis and in inflammation. Blood 1989;74:844-851.
- Flynn PM, Shenep JL, Stokes DC, Barrett FF. In situ management of confirmed central venous catheterrelated bacteremia. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1987;6:729-734.
- Fu D, van Halbeek H. N-glycosylation site mapping of human serotransferrin by serial lectin affinity chromatography, fast atom bombardment-mass spectrometry, and 1H nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Anal Biochem 1992;206:53-63.
- Funk WD, MacGillivray RT, Mason AB, Brown SA, Woodworth RC. Expression of the amino-terminal half-molecule of human serum transferrin in cultured cells and characterization of the recombinant protein. Biochemistry 1990;29:1654-1660.
- Gonzalez-Barca E, Fernandez-Sevilla A, Carratala J, Granena A, Gudiol F. Prospective study of 288 episodes of bacteremia in neutropenic cancer patients in a single institution. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 1996;15:291-296.
- Gordeuk VR, Brittenham GM, McLaren GD, Spagnuolo PJ. Hyperferremia in immunosuppressed patients with acute nonlymphocytic leukemia and the risk of infection. J Lab Clin Med 1986;108:466-472.
- Gosriwatana I, Loreal O, Lu S, Brissot P, Porter J, Hider RC. Quantification of non-transferrin-bound iron in the presence of unsaturated transferrin. Anal Biochem 1999;273:212-220.
- Gray-Owen SD, Schryvers AB. Bacterial transferrin and lactoferrin receptors. Trends Microbiol 1996;4:185-191.
- Griffiths E. Iron in biological systems. In: Bullen JJ, Griffiths E (Eds.), Iron and infection. Molecular, physiological and clinical aspects. Chichester, John Wiley & Sons, 1999: pp. 1-26.
- Griffiths E, Williams P. The iron-uptake systems of pathogenic bacteria, fungi and protozoa. In: Bullen JJ, Griffiths E (Eds.), Iron and infection. Molecular, physiological and clinical aspects. Chichester, John Wiley & Sons, 1999: pp. 87-212.
- Grootveld M, Bell JD, Halliwell B, Aruoma OI, Bomford A, Sadler PJ. Non-transferrin-bound iron in plasma or serum from patients with idiopathic hemochromatosis. Characterization by high performance liquid chromatography and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. J Biol Chem 1989;264:4417-4422.
- Gumerov DR, Mason AB, Kaltashov IA. Interlobe communication in human serum transferrin: metal binding and conformational dynamics investigated by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Biochemistry 2003;42:5421-5428.
- Gutteridge JM, Hou YY. Iron complexes and their reactivity in the bleomycin assay for radical-promoting loosely-bound iron. Free Radic Res Commun 1986;2:143-151.
- Gutteridge JM, Rowley DA, Halliwell B. Superoxide-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals in the presence of iron salts. Detection of 'free' iron in biological systems by using bleomycin-dependent degradation of DNA. Biochem J 1981;199:263-265.
- Hall DR, Hadden JM, Leonard GA, Bailey S, Neu M, Winn M, Lindley PF. The crystal and molecular structures of diferric porcine and rabbit serum transferrins at resolutions of 2.15 and 2.60 A, respectively. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 2002;58:70-80.
- Halliwell B, Aruoma OI, Mufti G, Bomford A. Bleomycin-detectable iron in serum from leukaemic patients before and after chemotherapy. Therapeutic implications for treatment with oxidant-generating drugs. FEBS Lett 1988;241:202-204.
- Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. The importance of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human disease. Molec Aspects Med 1985;8:89-193.
- Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. Role of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human disease: an overview. Methods Enzymol 1990;186:1-85.

Hamill RL, Woods JC, Cook BA. Congenital atransferrinemia. A case report and review of the literature. Am J Clin Pathol 1991;96:215-218.

Harris DC, Aisen P. Physical chemistry of the transferrins. In: Loehr TM (Ed.), Iron carriers and iron proteins. New York, VCH Publishers, 1989: pp. 239-371.

- Harrison P, Marwah SS, Hughes RT, Bareford D. Non-transferrin bound iron and neutropenia after cytotoxic chemotherapy. J Clin Pathol 1994;47:350-352.
- Haupt H. Process for the preparation of a pasteurized and iron-free human transferrin and the use thereof. US Patent 5,252,715. 1993.
- He XM, Carter DC. Atomic structure and chemistry of human serum albumin. Nature 1992;358:209-215.
- Hershko C, Graham G, Bates GW, Rachmilewitz EA. Non-specific serum iron in thalassaemia: an abnormal serum iron fraction of potential toxicity. Br J Haematol 1978;40:255-263.
- Herwaldt LA, Geiss M, Kao C, Pfaller MA. The positive predictive value of isolating coagulase-negative staphylococci from blood cultures. Clin Infect Dis 1996;22:14-20.
- Hider RC. Nature of nontransferrin-bound iron. Eur J Clin Invest 2002;32 Suppl 1:50-4.:50-54.
- Hirose M. The structural mechanism for iron uptake and release by transferrins. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 2000;64:1328-1336.
- Hoefkens P, de Smit MH, de Jeu-Jaspars NM, Huijskes-Heins MI, de Jong G, van Eijk HG. Isolation, renaturation and partial characterization of recombinant human transferrin and its half molecules from Escherichia coli. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1996;28:975-982.
- Hoefkens P, Huijskes-Heins MI, de Jeu-Jaspars CM, van Noort WL, van Eijk HG. Influence of transferrin glycans on receptor binding and iron-donation. Glycoconj J 1997;14:289-295.
- Holmberg CG, Laurell CB. Studies on the capacity of serum to bind iron. A contribution to our knowledge of the regulation mechanism of serum iron. Acta Physiol Scand 1945;10:307-319.
- Holmberg CG, Laurell CB. Investigations in serum copper. I. Nature of serum copper and its relation to the iron-binding protein in human serum. Acta Chem Scand 1947;1:944-950.
- Horowitz B, Prince AM, Horowitz MS, Watklevicz C. Viral safety of solvent-detergent treated blood products. Dev Biol Stand 1993;81:147-161.
- Horowitz B, Wiebe ME, Lippin A, Stryker MH. Inactivation of viruses in labile blood derivatives. I. Disruption of lipid-enveloped viruses by tri(n-butyl)phosphate detergent combinations. Transfusion 1985;25:516-522.
- Howard DH. Acquisition, transport, and storage of iron by pathogenic fungi. Clin Microbiol Rev 1999;12:394-404.
- Hunter RL, Bennett B, Towns M, Vogler WR. Transferrin in disease II: defects in the regulation of transferrin saturation with iron contribute to susceptibility to infection. Am J Clin Pathol 1984;81:748-753.
- Iglesias-Osma C, Gonzalez-Villaron L, San Miguel JF, Caballero MD, Vazquez L, de Castro S. Iron metabolism and fungal infections in patients with haematological malignancies. J Clin Pathol 1995;48:223-225.
- Inman JK, Coryell FC, McCall KB, Sgouris JT, Andersson HD. A large-scale method for the purification of human transferrin. Vox Sang 1961;6:34-52.
- Jakeman A, Thompson T, McHattie J, Lehotay DC. Sensitive method for nontransferrin-bound iron quantification by graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrometry. Clin Biochem 2001;34:43-47.
- Jantunen E, Ruutu P, Niskanen L, Volin L, Parkkali T, Koukila-Kahkola P, Ruutu T. Incidence and risk factors for invasive fungal infections in allogeneic BMT recipients. Bone Marrow Transplant 1997;19:801-808.
- Kamboh MI, Ferrell RE. Human transferrin polymorphism. Hum Hered 1987;37:65-81.
- Kaplan J. Mechanisms of cellular iron acquisition: another iron in the fire. Cell 2002;111:603-606.
- Karp JE, Merz WG. Association of reduced total iron binding capacity and fungal infections in leukemic granulocytopenic patients. J Clin Oncol 1986;4:216-220.

- Kasvosve I, Delanghe JR, Gomo ZA, Gangaidzo IT, Khumalo H, Wuyts B, Mvundura E, Saungweme T, Moyo VM, Boelaert JR, Gordeuk VR. Transferrin polymorphism influences iron status in blacks. Clin Chem 2000;46:1535-1539.
- Kennedy HF, Morrison D, Kaufmann ME, Jackson MS, Bagg J, Gibson BE, Gemmell CG, Michie JR. Origins of Staphylococcus epidermidis and Streptococcus oralis causing bacteraemia in a bone marrow transplant patient. J Med Microbiol 2000;49:367-370.
- Kistler P, Friedli HH. Ethanol precipitation. In: Curling JM (Ed.), Methods of plasma protein fractionation. London, Academic Press, 1980: pp. 3-15.
- Kistler P, Nitschmann H, Wyttenbach A, Studer M, Niederöst C, Mauerhofer M. Humanes Siderophilin: Isolierung mittels Rivanol aus Blutplasma und Plasmafraktionen, analytische Bestimmung und Kristallisation. Vox Sang 1960;5:403-415.
- Kloos WE, Bannerman TL. Update on clinical significance of coagulase-negative staphylococci. Clin Microbiol Rev 1994;7:117-140.
- Koppenol WH. The Haber-Weiss cycle 70 years later. Redox Rep 2001;6:229-234.
- Krijnen HW. Chemie en bloed. Het optimaal gebruik van menselijk bloed. Chemie en Techniek 1970;25:193-196.
- Lambert CC, Hunter RL. Low levels of unsaturated transferrin as a predictor of survival in pneumococcal pneumonia. Ann Clin Lab Sci 1990;20:140-146.
- Leger D, Campion B, Decottignies JP, Montreuil J, Spik G. Physiological significance of the marked increased branching of the glycans of human serotransferrin during pregnancy. Biochem J 1989;257:231-238.
- Lindeman JH, Houdkamp E, Lentjes EG, Poorthuis BJ, Berger HM. Limited protection against ironinduced lipid peroxidation by cord blood plasma. Free Radic Res Commun 1992;16:285-294.
- Lindeman JH, Lentjes EG, van Zoeren-Grobben D, Berger HM. Postnatal changes in plasma ceruloplasmin and transferrin antioxidant activities in preterm babies. Biol Neonate 2000;78:73-76.
- Lindsay JA, Riley TV, Mee BJ. Staphylococcus aureus but not Staphylococcus epidermidis can acquire iron from transferrin. Microbiology 1995;141:197-203.
- Loban A, Kime R, Powers H. Iron-binding antioxidant potential of plasma albumin. Clin Sci (Colch ) 1997;93:445-451.
- Loreal O, Gosriwatana I, Guyader D, Porter J, Brissot P, Hider RC. Determination of non-transferrinbound iron in genetic hemochromatosis using a new HPLC-based method. J Hepatol 2000;32:727-733.
- MacGillivray RT, Mendez E, Shewale JG, Sinha SK, Lineback-Zins J, Brew K. The primary structure of human serum transferrin. The structures of seven cyanogen bromide fragments and the assembly of the complete structure. J Biol Chem 1983;258:3543-3553.
- Makey DG, Seal US. The detection of four molecular forms of human transferrin during the iron binding process. Biochim Biophys Acta 1976;453:250-256.
- Mason AB, He QY, Adams TE, Gumerov DR, Kaltashov IA, Nguyen V, MacGillivray RT. Expression, purification, and characterization of recombinant nonglycosylated human serum transferrin containing a c-terminal hexahistidine tag. Protein Expr Purif 2001;23:142-150.
- Mason AB, He QY, Halbrooks PJ, Everse SJ, Gumerov DR, Kaltashov IA, Smith VC, Hewitt J, MacGillivray RT. Differential effect of a his tag at the N- and C-termini: functional studies with recombinant human serum transferrin. Biochemistry 2002;41:9448-9454.
- Mason AB, Miller MK, Funk WD, Banfield DK, Savage KJ, Oliver RW, Green BN, MacGillivray RT, Woodworth RC. Expression of glycosylated and nonglycosylated human transferrin in mammalian cells. Characterization of the recombinant proteins with comparison to three commercially available transferrins. Biochemistry 1993;32:5472-5479.

- Mason AB, Tam BM, Woodworth RC, Oliver RW, Green BN, Lin LN, Brandts JF, Savage KJ, Lineback JA, MacGillivray RT. Receptor recognition sites reside in both lobes of human serum transferrin. Biochem J 1997;326:77-85.
- Mason AB, Woodworth RC, Oliver RW, Green BN, Lin LN, Brandts JF, Tam BM, Maxwell A, MacGillivray RT. Production and isolation of the recombinant N-lobe of human serum transferrin from the methylotrophic yeast Pichia pastoris. Protein Expr Purif 1996;8:119-125.
- Matsudaira P. Sequence from picomole quantities of proteins electroblotted onto polyvinylidene difluoride membranes. J Biol Chem 1987;262:10035-10038.
- McCord JM. Iron, free radicals, and oxidative injury. Semin Hematol 1998;35:5-12.
- Metz-Boutigue MH, Jolles J, Mazurier J, Schoentgen F, Legrand D, Spik G, Montreuil J, Jolles P. Human lactotransferrin: amino acid sequence and structural comparisons with other transferrins. Eur J Biochem 1984;145:659-676.
- Meyer JM, Neely A, Stintzi A, Georges C, Holder IA. Pyoverdin is essential for virulence of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Infect Immun 1996;64:518-523.
- Mills P, Mills K, Clayton P, Johnson A, Whitehouse D, Winchester B. Congenital disorders of glycosylation type I leads to altered processing of N-linked glycans, as well as underglycosylation. Biochem J 2001;359:249-254.
- Modun B, Evans RW, Joannou CL, Williams P. Receptor-mediated recognition and uptake of iron from human transferrin by Staphylococcus aureus and Staphylococcus epidermidis. Infect Immun 1998;66:3591-3596.
- Modun B, Morrissey J, Williams P. The staphylococcal transferrin receptor: a glycolytic enzyme with novel functions. Trends Microbiol 2000;8:231-237.
- Mofenson HC, Caraccio TR, Sharieff N. Iron sepsis: Yersinia enterocolitica septicemia possibly caused by an overdose of iron. N Engl J Med 1987;316:1092-1093.
- Morel I, Lescoat G, Cillard J, Pasdeloup N, Brissot P, Cillard P. Kinetic evaluation of free malondialdehyde and enzyme leakage as indices of iron damage in rat hepatocyte cultures. Involvement of free radicals. Biochem Pharmacol 1990;39:1647-1655.
- Morgan EH. Transferrin. In: Haeberli A (Ed.), Human protein data. Weinheim, VCH Verlagsges. MbH, 1992.
- Morgan EH. Studies on the mechanism of iron release from transferrin. Biochim Biophys Acta 1979;580:312-326.
- Morrison VA, Haake RJ, Weisdorf DJ. The spectrum of non-Candida fungal infections following bone marrow transplantation. Medicine (Baltimore ) 1993;72:78-89.
- Moura E, Verheul AF, Marx JJ. A functional defect in hereditary haemochromatosis monocytes and monocyte-derived macrophages. Eur J Clin Invest 1998;28:164-173.
- Mumby S, Koizumi M, Taniguchi N, Gutteridge JM. Reactive iron species in biological fluids activate the iron-sulphur cluster of aconitase. Biochim Biophys Acta 1998;1380:102-108.
- Namekata K, Oyama F, Imagawa M, Ihara Y. Human transferrin (Tf): a single mutation at codon 570 determines Tf C1 or Tf C2 variant. Hum Genet 1997;100:457-458.
- Parkkinen J, von Bonsdorff L, Peltonen S, Grönhagen-Riska C, Rosenlöf K. Catalytically active iron and bacterial growth in serum of haemodialysis patients after i.v. iron-saccharate administration. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2000;15:1827-1834.
- Payne SM. Detection, isolation, and characterization of siderophores. Methods Enzymol 1994;235:329-344.
- Pehta JC. Clinical studies with solvent detergent-treated products. Transfus Med Rev 1996;10:303-311.
- Pepper JR, Mumby S, Gutteridge JM. Blood cardioplegia increases plasma iron overload and thiol levels during cardiopulmonary bypass. Ann Thorac Surg 1995;60:1735-1740.
- Petrat F, de Groot H, Sustmann R, Rauen U. The chelatable iron pool in living cells: a methodically defined quantity. Biol Chem 2002;383:489-502.

Porter JB. Practical management of iron overload. Br J Haematol 2001;115:239-252.

- Porter JB, Abeysinghe RD, Marshall L, Hider RC, Singh S. Kinetics of removal and reappearance of nontransferrin-bound plasma iron with deferoxamine therapy. Blood 1996;88:705-713.
- Porter JB, Huehns ER. The toxic effects of desferrioxamine. Baillieres Clin Haematol 1989;2:459-474. Raad I. Intravascular-catheter-related infections. Lancet 1998;351:893-898.
- Ratledge C, Dover LG. Iron metabolism in pathogenic bacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol 2000;54:881-941.
- Richardson DR, Ponka P. The molecular mechanisms of the metabolism and transport of iron in normal and neoplastic cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1997;1331:1-40.
- Rigal D, Blourde C, Martel F, Adenot N, Bienvenu F, Souillet G, Philippe N. Could transferrin become a therapeutic agent? Use in bone marow allografts. Biotechnology of plasma proteins, Colloque INSERM 1989;175:107-114.
- Rivat C, Sertillanges P, Patin E, Stoltz JF. Single-step method for purification of human transferrin from a by-product of chromatographic fractionation of plasma. J Chromatogr 1992;576:71-77.
- Rolf J, Ohmizu A, Latham S, Bhattacharya P. Manufacturing process for the production of purified transferrin. Patent WO9749414. 1997.
- Sahlstedt L, Ebeling F, von Bonsdorff L, Parkkinen J, Ruutu T. Non-transferrin-bound iron during allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Br J Haematol 2001;113:836-838.
- Sakurai K, Cederbaum AI. Oxidative stress and cytotoxicity induced by ferric-nitrilotriacetate in HepG2 cells that express cytochrome P450 2E1. Mol Pharmacol 1998;54:1024-1035.
- Schade AL. Significance of serum iron for the growth, biological characteristics, and metabolism of Staphylococcus aureus. Biochemische Zeitschrift 1963;338:140-148.
- Schade AL, Caroline L. Raw hen egg white and the role of iron in growth inhibition of Shigella dysenteriae, Staphylococcus aureus, Escherichia coli and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Science 1944;100:14-15.
- Schade AL, Caroline L. An iron-binding component in human blood plasma. Science 1946;104:340-341.
- Schmidt I, Blumel J, Seitz H, Willkommen H, Lower J. Parvovirus B19 DNA in plasma pools and plasma derivatives. Vox Sang 2001;81:228-235.
- Schryvers AB, Stojiljkovic I. Iron acquisition systems in the pathogenic Neisseria. Mol Microbiol 1999;32:1117-1123.
- Sherertz RJ, Raad II, Belani A, Koo LC, Rand KH, Pickett DL, Straub SA, Fauerbach LL. Three-year experience with sonicated vascular catheter cultures in a clinical microbiology laboratory. J Clin Microbiol 1990;28:76-82.
- Shiraishi A, Arai T. Antifungal activity of transferrin. Sabouraudia 1979;17:79-83.
- Siegl G, Cassinotti P. Presence and significance of parvovirus B19 in blood and blood products. Biologicals 1998;26:89-94.
- Sikstrom C, Beckman L, Hallmans G, Asplund K. Transferrin types, iron-binding capacity and body iron stores. Hum Hered 1993;43:337-341.
- Simpson RJ, Cooper CE, Raja KB, Halliwell B, Evans PJ, Aruoma OI, Singh S, Konijn AM. Nontransferrin-bound iron species in the serum of hypotransferrinaemic mice. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992;1156:19-26.
- Singh S, Hider RC, Porter JB. A direct method for quantification of non-transferrin-bound iron. Anal Biochem 1990;186:320-323.
- Spik G, Debruyne V, Montreuil J, van Halbeek H, Vliegenthart JF. Primary structure of two sialylated triantennary glycans from human serotransferrin. FEBS Lett 1985;183:65-69.
- Spiro TG, Saltman P. Inorganic chemistry. In: Jacobs A, Worwood M (Eds.), Iron in biochemistry and medicine. London, Academic Press, 1974: pp. 1-28.
- Sridhar S, Ahluwalia M, Brummer E, Stevens DA. Characterization of an anticryptococcal protein isolated from human serum. Infect Immun 2000;68:3787-3791.

- Stibler H. Carbohydrate-deficient transferrin in serum: a new marker of potentially harmful alcohol consumption reviewed. Clin Chem 1991;37:2029-2037.
- Sugiura Y, Suzuki T, Kuwahara J, Tanaka H. On the mechanism of hydrogen peroxide-, superoxide-, and ultraviolet light-induced DNA cleavages of inactive bleomycin-iron(III) complex. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1982;105:1511-1518.
- Sutcliffe MC, Savage AM, Alford RH. Transferrin-dependent growth inhibition of yeast-phase Histoplasma capsulatum by human serum and lymph. J Infect Dis 1980;142:209-219.
- Taylor JM, Heinrichs DE. Transferrin binding in Staphylococcus aureus: involvement of a cell wallanchored protein. Mol Microbiol 2002;43:1603-1614.
- Tenkanen H, Metso J, Lukka M. Transferrin C subtype frequencies in the Finnish population. Hum Hered 1989;39:55-57.
- Trivier D, Courcol RJ. Iron depletion and virulence in Staphylococcus aureus. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1996;141:117-127.
- Turpeinen U, Methuen T, Alfthan H, Laitinen K, Salaspuro M, Stenman UH. Comparison of HPLC and small column (CDTect) methods for disialotransferrin. Clin Chem 2001;47:1782-1787.
- van Asbeck BS, Marx JJ, Struyvenberg A, van Kats JH, Verhoef J. Effect of iron (III) in the presence of various ligands on the phagocytic and metabolic activity of human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. J Immunol 1984;132:851-856.
- Vorm O, Roepstorff P, Mann M. Matrix surfaces made by fast evaporation yield improved resolution and very high sensitivity in MALDI TOF. Anal Chem 1994;66:3281-3287.
- Wade JC, Schimpff SC, Newman KA, Wiernik PH. Staphylococcus epidermidis: an increasing cause of infection in patients with granulocytopenia. Ann Intern Med 1982;97:503-508.
- Wandersman C, Stojiljkovic I. Bacterial heme sources: the role of heme, hemoprotein receptors and hemophores. Curr Opin Microbiol 2000;3:215-220.
- Wang Y, Chen J, Luo Y, Funk WD, Mason AB, Woodworth RC, MacGillivray RT, Brayer GD. Preliminary crystallographic analyses of the N-terminal lobe of recombinant human serum transferrin. J Mol Biol 1992;227:575-576.
- Ward CG, Bullen JJ. Clinical and physiological aspects. Chichester, 1999: pp. 369-450.
- Weinberg ED. Iron withholding: a defense against infection and neoplasia. Physiol Rev 1984;64:65-102.
- Weinberg ED. Development of clinical methods of iron deprivation for suppression of neoplastic and infectious diseases. Cancer Invest 1999;17:507-513.
- Welch S, Skinner A. A comparison of the structure and properties of human, rat and rabbit serum transferrin. Comp Biochem Physiol B 1989;93:417-424.
- Williams J, Evans RW, Moreton K. The iron-binding properties of hen ovotransferrin. Biochem J 1978;173:533-539.
- Williams J, Moreton K. The distribution of iron between the metal-binding sites of transferrin human serum. Biochem J 1980;185:483-488.
- Winston DJ, Dudnick DV, Chapin M, Ho WG, Gale RP, Martin WJ. Coagulase-negative staphylococcal bacteremia in patients receiving immunosuppressive therapy. Arch Intern Med 1983;143:32-36.
- Yamashita K, Ideo H, Ohkura T, Fukushima K, Yuasa I, Ohno K, Takeshita K. Sugar chains of serum transferrin from patients with carbohydrate deficient glycoprotein syndrome. Evidence of asparagine-N-linked oligosaccharide transfer deficiency. J Biol Chem 1993;268:5783-5789.
- Zak O, Aisen P. A new method for obtaining human transferrin C-lobe in the native conformation: preparation and properties. Biochemistry 2002;41:1647-1653.
- Zak O, Ikuta K, Aisen P. The synergistic anion-binding sites of human transferrin: chemical and physiological effects of site-directed mutagenesis. Biochemistry 2002;41:7416-7423.
- Zhang D, Okada S, Kawabata T, Yasuda T. An improved simple colorimetric method for quantitation of non-transferrin-bound iron in serum. Biochem Mol Biol Int 1995;35:635-641.

Zinner SH. Changing epidemiology of infections in patients with neutropenia and cancer: emphasis on gram-positive and resistant bacteria. Clin Infect Dis 1999;29:490-494.